

FOIA MARKER

This is not a textual record. This is used as an administrative marker by the Clinton Presidential Library Staff.

Folder Title:

China [Folder 1] [4]

Staff Office-Individual:

Speechwriting-Orzulak, Paul

Original OA/ID Number:

4022

Row:	Section:	Shelf:	Position:	Stack:
48	6	9	2	V

Sutphen, Mona K. (NSA)

From: Malinowski, Tomasz P. (SPCHW)
Sent: Tuesday, February 01, 2000 1:59 PM
To: @NSA - Natl Security Advisor
Cc: @SPEECH - NSC Speechwriters; @ASIA - Asian Affairs
Subject: china speech [UNCLASSIFIED]

For SRB:

Revised China speech, with your edits, plus additional suggestions from Ken and Tom.
Shorter, but I still need to cut.

- Paul

W
srb-china4_.doc

Malinowski

PAUL -
FIRST ~~6~~ 6
PAGES...

e-mail

2/1/00 2:00 p.m.

Orzulak

**NATIONAL SECURITY ADVISOR SAMUEL R. BERGER
REMARKS TO
THE WOODROW WILSON CENTER
ON CHINA
WASHINGTON, D.C.
FEBRUARY 2, 2000**

Speaking to the Wilson Center is always a challenging prospect. It brings to mind the story of the man who lived through the famous Johnstown flood. All his life, this man would stop and tell everybody he met the story of how he survived. When he died and went to heaven, he asked St. Peter to convene a crowd so he could tell them about the great flood. St. Peter said, "I'd be happy to. But you have to remember one thing - Noah will be in the audience."

There's more than one foreign policy Noah in this distinguished audience. Indeed, Lee Hamilton himself comes with an entire Ark. For 20 years, he brought a steady hand to foreign policy in Congress, with the emphasis always on patriotism, not partisanship. I thank him for that.

Last week in his State of the Union address, the President gave a compelling summary of the challenges America will face in the 21st century world. Looking ahead, there's good reason for optimism. America is enjoying the longest economic expansion in its history. Our military strength is unchallenged. Our alliances are strong. Our values are ascendant. Eighty years after Woodrow Wilson hoped that American leadership would help make the world safe for democracy - more than half the world's people ^{now} live under governments of their own choosing.

But as the President said last Thursday, this is not a world without dangers to us. ~~There is the prospect that~~ ^{can be} our security ~~will~~ be threatened by regional conflicts that pose the risk of a wider war. ~~There is the danger that~~ ^{can} the march of technology ~~will~~ give terrorists and hostile nations the means to undermine our defenses, and force us to once again live in fear. ~~There is a chance that~~ ^{can} the stability of the 21st Century ~~will~~ be threatened by an ever-widening gap between rich and poor.

2

And of course, there is the possibility that our former adversaries Russia and China will fail to emerge in this century as stable, prosperous, ^{and} democratic ^{partners of the United States}.

Today, I want to talk about China. Since President Nixon went to China in 1972, the United States has sought to develop a constructive relationship with Beijing, initially as a counterweight to the Soviet Union and later in recognition of ^{China's} growing importance in its own right. We have ~~tried to encourage~~ ^{worked for} the emergence of a China with an economy that is open to American products, farmers, and businesses. A China whose people have access to ideas and information. A China that upholds the rule of law at home and adheres to global rules on everything from nuclear non-proliferation to human rights to trade.

This year, we have an unprecedented opportunity to advance those goals. The opportunity, of course, is China's entry into the World Trade Organization.

^(, market opening)
^{Full} But before America can realize the benefits of Chinese ^{entry into the WTO} membership in this institution, Congress must answer a simple question: will it grant China permanent Normal Trade Relations status ~~the status attached~~

^{with China} which, ^{in effect,} is our part of the deal we reached, and the same arrangement we have given to every other country in the WTO. Or will Congress turn its back on the most sweeping changes ^{every other WTO nation}

^{step} China has agreed to make in decades and ~~actually~~ ^{all} risk losing ground on the issues we care about? ^(Ch)

This will be an intense – and intensely important – debate. ~~People on both sides of the aisle~~ ^{there are} legitimate concerns about China. ^{So} But let me take a few minutes today to talk about why supporting this agreement – and permanent NTR for China -- is not only in our economic interest, but, more important, is in our national security interest.

^(not just answer the threshold)
Every debate on a trade agreement ^{begin with a simple} question: will our economy and our workforce benefit from the terms we've negotiated, or will they suffer? From an economic perspective, there is no denying that this agreement strongly benefits the United States.

For years, China has had extraordinary access to our markets, while its markets have been in many ways closed to American products and services. Indeed, we ran a \$71.5 billion trade deficit with China last year — our largest ^{(with any country [ch]).} This agreement requires China to make ~~major~~ ^{sweeping} concessions to open its market to America, ^{while} ~~but~~ ^{further} we make no ~~any~~ market-opening concessions to China. ~~So~~ ^{Deprive American companies and workers of the same} Rejecting this agreement would in no way limit China's access to our markets. It ~~would only continue to limit our access to China, ensuring that our trade deficit remains high.~~ ^{that} ~~tariffs and other~~ ^{favorable market access} ~~as seen in our~~ ^{European, Japanese and other competitors would have.}

This agreement will dramatically reduce China's tariffs on everything from agricultural and industrial products to computers and semiconductors. It ~~directly responds to concerns raised by~~ ^{franchising} Republicans and Democrats alike about unfair trade practices in China — from product dumping to technology transfers — ^{and gives us} ~~that drains jobs, investment and technology from the United States.~~ ^{protections against import surges} And it allows our businesses to export to China from home ^(and have their own distribution in China) rather than being forced to set up factories in China to sell products there ^(through Chinese distribution channels the Chinese control.)

That is what this agreement means in principle. Here is what it means in practice.

Consider the auto industry. Right now, a car made in Dearborn faces an 80 to 100 percent tariff before it can be sold in China --which prices us ~~right~~ out of the market. So if you want to sell cars in China, you need to base your operations in China. To do that, you must form a joint venture with a Chinese middle-man, a state run enterprise and give them at least a 51% stake.

You also must to transfer a huge amount of your technology to China, and teach the Chinese how to use it -- which means you are transferring both your product and your ^{expertise} ~~training~~ to your eventual competitors. ~~It's also against the law in China to import American car parts, so you have to work with Chinese vendors to set up component processors, and train them how to make those, too.~~ ^{Also cannot import suppliers (?) for} ^{into China,}

In addition, Americans ^{cannot now} ~~are not allowed to~~ directly run distribution centers in China, so once your parts are made, the Chinese have to sell them for you. Americans are not allowed to directly own

Full
This
needs
to be
read
by
Obama
(WEC?)
who
really
knows
agreement

[don't
understand
this
Chinese
parts
supplier

that
we
have
with
regard
to no
other
country.

service centers, either. So you have to find another ^{Chinese} middle-man. And all this assumes that Chinese consumers can buy the cars in the first place, because the only financing that is allowed in China is through state-run banks - and they don't make loans for cars. Little wonder that there are many times more bicycles in China than automobiles.

(100% US ownership?) Under the new agreement, it's completely different. Tariffs on American cars fall by nearly 75 percent, so we can compete in Chinese markets. The requirement that we have to link up with Chinese enterprises is eliminated. So is the requirement that we have to transfer our ~~tech~~ technology. And, American manufacturers will now be free to use parts made in America for assembly in China, to set up their own distribution centers, to run their own service shops, and to provide their own financing to consumers.

From our perspective, it means that we're going to sell a lot more American cars in China, which means more jobs in America. In return, the Chinese people end up with much better products at lower prices. Take that example and multiply it out across all of our other industries - from manufacturing to high-tech to insurance to agriculture - and you begin to get an idea of ^{what} ~~how~~ ^{agreement} much this ~~deal~~ could mean to both our economies.

For our part, we must ~~To get these benefits, all we are required to do is to~~ grant China permanent normal trade relations status, ~~to bring China into the WTO.~~ It's important to understand what that means: ~~permanent~~ NTR is not a favor to China, it is the best way to level the playing field. And it is a reciprocal agreement (yes, China must also grant us PNTR). It simply means that we will give China the same tariff schedule we apply to most every other nation in the world, and China will do ~~likewise.~~ ^{It would eliminate the annual vote on China MFN,} ~~If we do not do this, WTO rules do not apply to our access to the Chinese market.~~ [Which ~~we~~ we do not apply to any other WTO member [ch]].

Of course, passing permanent NTR with China does not mean that Congress is permanently ~~barred from ever revisiting the issue of Chinese trade.~~ ^{Some have said we need the annual vote to address other} Congress always has the authority to ~~adjust our trading relationships with any nation, as well as any other part of our relationship with~~ ^{address} ~~China~~ ^{But} ~~China~~ ^{concerns we have with China, on human rights, proliferation or religious}

5

China, ~~and that's the way it should be.~~ What it will do is get us out of the cycle we are now in, where the future of Chinese trade comes up for a vote every single year in Congress.

The economic benefits of this deal to America are clear. If Congress votes no, it would deny ~~China would not be required to give~~ American firms the ability to enter the Chinese market under WTO rules, and cancel the special

protections that we negotiated. As a result, Americans would ~~almost certainly~~ be put at a tremendous competitive disadvantage against European and Japanese competitors as they stake out privileged positions in one of the 21st Century's biggest markets.

In a global economy, where global markets are essential, ~~our business and workers would be hobbled with one quarter~~ For me, ~~this is the beginning of the argument for this agreement, not the end.~~ For I am convinced that it is as vital to our national security as it is to our economic security.

Our nation has a tremendous stake in how China evolves. Our future is substantially tied to Asia. The stability of Asia - economically, politically and militarily - is inextricably entwined with the stability and direction of China, ~~the largest nation in the world.~~ As China develops, the path it illuminates or the shadow it casts will be felt very far from its own borders.

China will write that future as it answers some fundamental questions: It has extended some freedoms, but will it gain the resiliency and stability that can only come from respecting human rights and permitting opposing political voices to be heard -- and felt? It is reforming its economy, but will it unleash the ~~essential~~ ingredient of sustained growth in the information age -- namely access to knowledge and unfettered thought? It has become deeply engaged in the international community, but will it make a ~~broad~~ commitment to play by global rules and do its part to address global challenges like the spread of weapons of mass destruction and climate change? It is growing stronger, but will it use that strength to build a more secure Asia, or ~~will it threaten~~ the freedom and security of its neighbors? Ultimately, the answers will come from China. But we have an enormous stake in encouraging it to choose the path of integration and reform, not isolation, stagnation, and decline. And bringing China into the WTO will ~~help~~ ~~make a difference.~~

many other country.

Annual MFN vote not been effective instrument. Affirmed 5 years

how. In many ways, denying China normal tariffs, has such a dramatic effect on us as well as them. Makes it an ineffective remedy.

The same favorable terms of access to its market as it will to other competitors.

of the world. It would be a self-inflicted wound that would hurt the economic health of our country.

SRB

7:30 pm

2/1/00

~~We~~ have a clear-eyed view of

To understand why, we need to ~~see~~ China clearly, neither through rose-colored glasses or through the glass darkly. We need to look its progress and its problems, its system and its strains, its policies and its perceptions of us, of itself, and the world.

looking

In the last 20 years, China has made remarkable progress in building a new economy, lifting more than 200 million people out of absolute poverty. One remarkable result is that China now has the largest wireless communications market in the world, adding the equivalent of a Baby Bell to their telephone system every year.

[put this in communications, not market, terms]

But China faces daunting problems as well. Its working age population ^{alone} is increasing by more than 12 million people - equal to the population of New England - every year. Tens of millions of peasants are migrating from the countryside, where they see no future, to the city, where only some find work. China's political system has become plagued by corruption. Its air is so dirty that 25 percent of all deaths in China over the age of five come from chronic respiratory disease, four times the rate of the United States. ~~And~~ China's economic growth has slowed just when it needs to be rising to create jobs for the unemployed and maintain support for economic reform

ret

~~For~~ all the progress of China's reforms, private enterprise still accounts for less than one-third of its GDP. China ^{is} state banks ^{are} still making massive loans to struggling state firms, the sector of the economy least likely to succeed.

China's top leaders understand that ^{economic} ~~such~~ change is both essential and risky. It is risky because economic reform and opening China's antiquated economy to global competition is likely to cause more short-term unemployment and the specter of social unrest. But, interestingly,

~~China's leaders~~ ^{They} also understand that it is essential because China cannot make the next leap in economic development without world-class industries and products that can compete in the

^{And the only way to produce ~~world~~ competitive industries is to open the country to outside competition.}
In other words, it simply cannot ensure stability by maintaining the status quo.
China

[Where a when?]

What does this mean for us? As the President has said, "if we've learned anything in the last few years from Japan's long recession and Russia's current economic troubles, it is that the weaknesses of great nations can pose as big a challenge to America as their strengths." So as we focus on the potential challenge that a strong China could present to the United States in the future, let us not forget the risk of a weak China, beset by internal conflicts, social dislocation and criminal activity, large-scale illegal emigration, ~~becoming~~ ^{that could be posed by} a vast zone of instability in Asia.

Our interest lies in encouraging both stability and change in China by encouraging it to meet, not stifle, the growing demands of its people for openness, accountability ^{freedom and} and reform. Bringing China into the WTO will help in ~~these~~ ^{each} ways.

First, this is not simply an agreement to expand trade between our two countries. It will obligate China to deepen its market reforms, and ^{open its society to the world.} ~~empower leaders who want their country to move~~ ^{It will increase the pace of change.} ~~further and faster toward economic freedom.~~

(Don't want to empower autocratic leaders)

^{Those Chinese leaders who are} ~~Premier Zhu Rongji and other~~ reform-minded leaders in China understand that lowering tariffs and other barriers exposes China's state-run industries to competition; many will not be able to compete without fundamental changes in ownership and management. But they also understand that forcing firms to compete is something China must do to sustain its growth. With this WTO agreement, they have chosen to continue opening their economy, despite the risks that path entails. Do we really want to reject ^{that} ~~the~~ choice?

The introduction of competition results in natural pressure for progress. A decade ago, China's best and brightest college graduates sought jobs in the government, in large state-owned firms or state-run research institutions or universities. More and more, the best and brightest are either starting their own companies or choosing to work for foreign-invested companies -- where they

generally get higher pay, a better work environment, and a chance to get ahead based on merit, not political connections.

Industry surveys show that U.S. companies are the leaders in the Chinese market in developing human resources -- by emphasizing teamwork and respect for individual rights. ^{In turn,} More and more,

Chinese firms are learning that unless they change their working style and treat employees with respect, they will lose out in the ^{competition} ~~critical way~~ for top talent. This process will only accelerate as

China joins the WTO, and we should do all we can to encourage it, ^{because it will lift} The standards of Chinese workers, ~~and their~~ -- and their expectations.

Second, by accelerating economic change, the agreement we reached also has the potential to

~~encourage~~ ^{encourage} China to evolve into a more open and free society.

In ways that are halting, incomplete, but nonetheless real for millions of ordinary Chinese citizens, China's economic opening has ^{already} ~~already~~ given its people greater scope to live ^{as they see fit} ~~as they see fit~~ ^{their lives} ~~their lives~~.

Take Shanghai, for example, the city that has been most open to international influence. Ten years ago, it was illegal for people in China to own their own homes. Today, 25 percent of Shanghai residents are homeowners. Ten years ago, there were no supermarkets, and citizens had to buy food from state-run outlets using coupons. Today, there are more than 1,000 supermarkets and no more rationing of food. A decade ago, Chinese citizens could rarely travel in or out of their own country. Last year, on New Year's Day, airlines added more than 250 flights to international destinations from Shanghai alone. Nationwide, China has seen the emergence of more than 200,000 professional associations, consumer groups, tenant organizations, environmental groups, plus an explosion of print and broadcast media, and local elections in the vast majority of the country's 900,000 villages.

Let us understand very clearly: these developments do not mean that the people of China enjoy political freedom. Chinese authorities still tolerate no organized political dissent or opposition, and no challenge -- real or imagined -- to the Communist Party. Over the past year, we have see

an increase in its crackdown on political activities and dissent; ~~including a harsh campaign to suppress the Falun Gong~~; stepped-up controls on unregistered churches; the suppression of ethnic minority groups, especially Tibetans; the imprisonment of even more dissidents whose only crime is free expression and free speech. And of course, just last week, Beijing announced that the government was cracking down on the Internet. Because the Communist Party's ideology has largely been discredited in China, and because it lacks the legitimacy that can only come from democratic choice, it seeks to maintain its grip by suppressing other voices.

move to p 10

So let me make very clear: This agreement is not by itself, a human rights policy for the United States. ~~That is why we~~ must and will continue to speak out on behalf of the people in China who are persecuted for their political and religious beliefs. That is why we worked hard for the release of Dickinson College librarian Song Yongyi, who was released just last week in Beijing. That's why we sponsored a resolution last year in the UN Human Rights Commission condemning China's human rights record last year and why we're doing it again this year. We will continue to press China to respect global norms on non-proliferation; to encourage a peaceful resolution of issues with Taiwan; to urge China to be part of the solution to the problem of global climate change.

We must continue ^{to} work ~~Constant pressure is required~~ in all these areas. ~~But~~ the liberalizing effect of bringing China into the WTO ~~will~~ surely complement ^{these} efforts.

But the fact is that

to give more emphasis

reinforce and ~~strengthen~~

In the past, the Chinese state was every citizens employer, landlord, shopkeeper, and news provider all rolled into one. By advancing privatization, this agreement will accelerate a process that is removing government from vast areas of people's lives.

By giving investors and property owners predictability and protection against arbitrary government action, it ~~reinforces the idea that individuals have rights.~~ Already, under the Chinese legal system, between 30,000 and 40,000 citizens bring suit against the government

[need somehow to give emphasis to this point; not sure this is a "fact"]

~~every year, but not many prevail.~~ This will give added impetus to those trying to strengthen the Chinese legal system in a way that allows citizens to hold their government truly accountable.

Finally, by opening China's telecommunications market to ^{cutting-age} ~~American~~ technology and ^{international} ~~American~~ firms, the WTO agreement will help bring the information revolution to cities and towns across China. A year ago, China had two million Internet users. Today, it has nine million. Soon, people in some of the most remote villages in interior China will have access to CNN. And as they become more mobile, more prosperous, and more aware of alternative ways of life, they will seek a stronger voice in shaping their destiny.

When you think about it, it is outrageous that the Chinese authorities ^{can try to restrict} ~~are cracking down on~~ the Internet. ^{But in} ~~But it's also futile.~~ In this information age, cracking down on the Internet is like ^{King Canute trying to stall the waters. It's futile} ~~trying to nail Jello to a wall.~~ Indeed, the fact that the Chinese government is pushing back against the

^{increasing flow of information to the Chinese people only proves that the changes China is} ~~undergoing are real and deeply threatening to the status quo.~~ This kind of repression is not an argument for slowing down the effort to bring China into the world; it's an argument for accelerating it.

In the end, Chinese leaders must come to understand: as China opens to the information economy, it can succeed only as it liberates the ^{minds of their people} ~~mass~~ and empowers the individual. In the information age, you cannot expect people to be creative economically and ^[Frozen? held back?] ~~[repressed]~~ politically. Nations that are finding success in the global economy encourage creative thinking and risk taking. ^(And the more people are educated, the more they tend to think for themselves.) ~~They are driven by knowledge and so they invest in education.~~ And nations that adjust best to the global economy discover that people are far more willing to tolerate wrenching economic change when they have a say in the decisions that affect their lives. Compare the fates of the governments of ^{an} ~~them~~ ^{autocratic} Indonesia and ^{democratic} South Korea as they faced the Asian financial crisis. Bringing China into the WTO doesn't guarantee it will make the right choice for political reform.

It is also true that

But by accelerating the process of economic change, it will force China to confront that choice sooner, and make the imperative for that choice far more powerful.

This agreement will advance our national security interests in a third way as well: it increases the chance that in the new century China will be on the inside of the international system, playing by the rules, instead of on the outside, denying them.

Under the terms of this agreement, the Chinese government is obliged to publish laws and regulations ^{It} and subjects some of its most important decisions, for the first time, to the review of an international body. Why does that matter?

Quite simply, it applies to China the basic principle at the heart of the concept of the rule of law: that governments cannot behave arbitrarily at home or abroad, that their actions are subject to limits and to rules consistently applied. Remember, China is choosing to embrace these obligations. As China becomes a stakeholder in the ^(WTO, and other) international system, it will be less likely to ^{regimes} see that system and its values as alien, and more likely to accept the legitimacy of international norms in other areas, such as non-proliferation and human rights. *and define its future within the international community, not outside of it.*

I know some ~~will~~ say that if China is allowed to join the WTO, it will actually undermine our effort to strengthen global norms in two very important areas: labor rights and the environment.

But the fact is, ^{of the} most members of the WTO are ^{already} developing countries, ^{with the} and most are *same concerns that not become an instrument to restrict them or* already skeptical of introducing those issues into the discussion. China's membership won't *growth.*

change that equation. And considering the fact that China is home to one-fifth of the world's workers and the source of a rising share of global greenhouse gas emissions, it is hard to imagine an effective global effort to meet ^{environmental} these challenges without China. [Trying to enforce labor and environmental standards in an international system that does not include China would be like trying to defend against the LA Lakers, but leaving Shaquille O'Neal unguarded. He's the one that has the potential to do the greatest damage.]

not me. Let's think of another metaphor or make pt generally,

It's fair to ask: how do we know China will do what it promised to do in the agreement we signed? Of course, we cannot know for sure. But we do have reasons to believe that it will ^{and mechanisms to reinforce that.}

First, China is pledging to open its economy and its markets not just as a means of getting in the WTO, but because most of its leaders believe reform is in China's interest. ~~I find it encouraging that in recent months the Chinese have asked for our advice and technical assistance to better understand and live up to the terms of the WTO agreement.~~

Second, as a member of the WTO, ^{non-compliance by China is} ~~China must submit disputes to that body for adjudication. If~~ ^{dispute resolution} ~~China violates its trade responsibilities under the WTO, it will confront judgments backed by a~~ ^{like any other country, China} 135-member body, rather than being able to chalk up friction to supposed U.S. bullying. Right now, if China treats our products unfairly, we have no recourse, short of pulling the plug on

trade. This agreement increases our leverage with China in the event of a future trade dispute. ^{If China does not comply with adverse rulings by the WTO, we are} ~~everything from intellectual property to dumping.~~ And it gives the forces of reform within China greater leverage to insist that China move in the right direction.

How will China change? I believe it will be a combination of internal pressures for greater voice ^{This process} and external validation of the human rights struggle by the international community. The WTO ^{entitled to take equivalent action} ~~agreement will contribute to the~~ ^{internal forces} ~~forming~~ ^{must} while we will maintain our leadership role in the latter. ^{against China, [ch]}

Our policy should no more be measured week to week or year to year than you could have measured our policy toward the Soviet Union - with which we continued to engage, even though ^a it posed a much greater threat to us than China does today.

In other words, we must and will continue to protect our interests with firmness and candor. ^{that can} ~~we must do so without isolating China from the global forces empowering its people to build a~~ ^{with the international community} better future. That would leave the Chinese people with less access to information, less contact with the democratic world, and more resistance from their government to outside influence and

[Does this go here or after the section?]

ideas. No one could possibly benefit from that except for the most rigid, anti-democratic elements in China itself. Let's not give them a victory by locking China out of the WTO, *and the world.*

The question is not whether or not this trade agreement by itself will cure serious and disturbing issues of economic and political freedom in China; the issue is whether it will push things in the right direction. President Clinton believes it will. Some of the most courageous proponents of change in China agree. Martin Lee, leader of Hong Kong's Democratic party, ~~supports this agreement, he~~ says that without entry to the WTO, "any hope for the political and reform process would also recede. And Chinese dissident Ren Wanding said upon the deal's completion: *[pron. —]*

"Before, the sky was black. now it is light. This can be a new beginning."

It is our shared conviction that supporting this agreement is a new beginning. It is the right thing for America, *for Asia and for the world.* ~~and the right thing for China. It will move China toward becoming what we have~~ ~~worked to build the past three decades~~ a more open, prosperous, and eventually democratic *society.* ~~China.~~ Let us have the wisdom to choose wisely. Thank you.

*defining its future
within the
international
community
toward ✓ and*

2/1/00 9:00 p.m.

Orzulak

**NATIONAL SECURITY ADVISOR SAMUEL R. BERGER
REMARKS TO
THE WOODROW WILSON CENTER
ON CHINA
WASHINGTON, D.C.
FEBRUARY 2, 2000**

Speaking to the Wilson Center is always a challenging prospect. It brings to mind the story of the man who lived through the famous Johnstown flood. All his life, this man would ~~stop and~~ tell everybody he met the story of how he survived. When he died and went to heaven, he asked St. Peter to convene a crowd so he could tell them about the great flood. St. Peter said, "I'd be happy to. But you have to remember one thing -- Noah will be in the audience."

There's more than one foreign policy Noah in this ^{distinguished} ~~esteemed~~ audience. Indeed, Lee Hamilton himself comes with an entire Ark. For 20 years, ^{Lee} ~~he~~ brought a steady hand to foreign policy in Congress, with the emphasis always on patriotism, not partisanship. I thank him for that.

Last week in his State of the Union Address, the President gave a compelling summary of the challenges America will face in the 21st Century. Looking ahead, there's good reason for optimism. ^{This month, America marks} ~~America is enjoying~~ the longest economic expansion in ^{our} ~~its~~ history. Our military strength is unchallenged. Our alliances are strong. Our values are ascendant. ^{in the world.} ~~Eighty~~ years after

Woodrow Wilson hoped American leadership would help make the world safe for democracy. ^{for the first time ever,} ~~more~~ than half the world's people ~~now~~ live under governments of their own choosing.

But as the President said, this is not a world without dangers to us. Our security can be threatened by regional conflicts that pose the risk of a wider war. The march of technology can give terrorists and hostile nations the means to undermine our defenses, and force us to once again live in fear. The stability of the 21st Century can be threatened by an ever-widening gap

between rich and poor. And of course, there is the possibility that our former adversaries Russia and China will fail to emerge in this century stable, prosperous, and democratic.

Today, I want to talk about China. Since President Nixon went to China in 1972, the United States has sought to develop a constructive relationship with Beijing, initially as a counterweight to the Soviet Union and later in recognition of China's growing importance in its own right. We have worked for the emergence of a China with an economy that is open to American products, farmers, and businesses. A China whose people have access to ideas and information. A China that upholds the rule of law at home and adheres to global rules on everything from nuclear non-proliferation to human rights to trade.

This year, we have an unprecedented opportunity to advance those goals. The opportunity, of course, is China's entry into the World Trade Organization.

But before America can realize the full market-opening benefits of Chinese entry into the WTO, Congress must answer a simple question: will it grant China permanent Normal Trade Relations status, ^{Doing so} which, in effect, is necessary to guarantee the full benefits of the agreement we negotiated with China, and the same arrangement we have given to 132 of the other 134 countries in the WTO? Or will Congress turn its back on the ~~most~~ sweeping changes China has agreed to make ^{in the agreement} in decades and risk losing ground on the issues we all care about?

This will be an intense and important debate. There are legitimate concerns about China. So let me take a few minutes today to talk about why supporting this agreement ^{is} and permanent NTR for China -- is ^{not} only in our economic interest, but in our national security interest as well.

Every debate on trade must first answer the threshold question: will our economy and our workforce benefit from the terms we've negotiated, or will they suffer? From an economic perspective, there is no denying that this agreement strongly benefits the United States.

For years, China has had ~~extraordinary~~ ^{open} access to our markets, while its markets have been in many ways closed to American products and services. Indeed, we ran a \$63 billion trade deficit with China last year, ~~our~~ ^{the} largest with any country. This agreement requires China to make ~~sweeping new concessions~~ ^{wide-ranging} to open its market ~~to America~~, while we have ~~simply~~ ^{only} agreed to maintain the market access policies we already apply to China ~~by granting it permanent NTR~~. Denying China PNTR would simply ~~risk depriving~~ ^{deprive} American companies and workers of the ~~the~~ ^{full benefits of China's} favorable market access ~~and effective enforcement through WTO dispute settlement~~ ^{concessions} that our European, Japanese, and other competitors ~~would~~ ^{will} have.

This agreement will dramatically reduce China's tariffs on everything from agricultural and industrial products to computers and semiconductors. It directly responds to concerns about unfair trade practices in China ~~from product dumping to technology transfers~~ ^{here at} and gives us ~~protections against import surges from China that we have with regard to no other country~~ ^{with}. And it allows our businesses to export to China from ~~home~~ ^{here at}, and have their own distribution ~~in China~~ ^{networks}, rather than being forced to set up factories in China to sell products through Chinese control.

That is what this agreement means in principle. Here is what it means in practice.

Consider the auto industry. Right now, a car made in Dearborn faces an 80 to 100 percent tariff before it can be sold in China --which prices us out of the market. If you want to sell cars in China, you need to base your operations in China. To do that, you must form a joint venture with a Chinese ~~middle man~~ ^{significant}, a state run enterprise and give ~~them~~ ^{it} at least 51%. You also must ~~transfer a huge amount of your technology to China, and teach the Chinese how to use it --~~ ^{of the operation} which means you are transferring both your product and expertise to your eventual competitors. And because of local content requirements, most parts have to be made in China, too. ^{stake} ^{agree}

In addition, Americans cannot now directly run parts distribution centers in China, so once your parts are made, Chinese partners have to sell them for you. Americans are not allowed to

directly own service centers, either. And all this assumes that Chinese consumers can buy the cars in the first place, because the only financing that is allowed in China is through state-run banks ~~and they don't make loans for cars.~~ Little wonder that there are many times more bicycles in China than automobiles.

Under the new agreement, it's completely different. Tariffs on American cars ^{will} ~~fall~~ by nearly 75 percent, so we can compete in Chinese markets. The requirement that we have to link up with Chinese enterprises is eliminated. So is the requirement that we have to transfer our technology. And, American manufacturers will now be free to use parts made in America for assembly in China, to set up their own distribution centers, to run their own service shops, and to provide their own financing to consumers.

From our perspective, it means that we're going to sell a lot more American cars in China, which means more jobs in America. In return, the Chinese people end up with much better products at lower prices. Take that example and multiply it ~~out~~ ^{across} all of our other industries ^{from} manufacturing to high-tech to insurance to agriculture ^{and} you begin to get an idea of what this agreement could mean to both our economies.

For our part, we must grant China permanent normal trade relations status. It's important to understand what that means: it simply means that we will give China the same tariff schedule we apply to most every other nation in the world, and China will do likewise. It would eliminate the annual vote on China MFN, which we do not apply to any other WTO member. Some have said we need the annual vote to address other concerns we have with China, on human rights, proliferation, or religious freedom. ^{Of course,} Congress always has the authority to address any part of our relationship with any nation, ^{including China.} ~~as well as any other part of our relationship with China or any other country.~~ ^{But} The annual MFN vote has ~~not~~ been an effective instrument. It has ^{simply} affirmed our trading relationship with China for ten years in a row. ~~In many ways, denying China normal tariffs, because it has such a dramatic effect on us as well as them, makes it an ineffective~~ ^{The prospect of}

permanent normal trade relations with China
 remedy. What ~~A~~ will do is get us out of the cycle we are now in, where the future of Chinese trade comes up for a ^{divisive and not very productive} vote every single year in Congress.

The economic benefits of this deal to America are clear. [If Congress votes no, we risk losing the full, enforceable market access benefits of the agreement, as well as the special protections we negotiated. ^{In} a global economy, where global markets are essential, American businesses and workers would be put at an enormous disadvantage, essentially ^{shut off from} ~~hobbled with~~ one fifth of the world. It would be a self-inflicted wound that would hurt the economic health of America. ✓

But I believe
~~For me~~ the economic benefits are only the beginning of the argument, not the end. For I am convinced that ^{This agreement} ~~A~~ is as vital to our national security as it is to our economic security.

We are a Pacific nation which has fought three [?] wars in Asia and the
 Our nation has a tremendous stake in how China evolves. Our future is ~~substantially~~ tied to ^{and the} stability of Asia. ~~The~~ ^{economic} stability of Asia is inextricably entwined with the stability and direction of China. As China develops, the path it illuminates or the shadow it casts will be felt ^{very} far from its own borders. ^{in the 21st century.}

China will write that future as it answers some fundamental questions: It has extended some freedoms -- but will it gain the stability that can only come from respecting human rights and permitting opposing political voices to be heard ^{by its people} and felt? It is reforming its economy -- but will it unleash the necessary ingredient of sustained growth in the information age -- namely access to knowledge and unfettered thought? It has become deeply engaged in the international community -- but will it make a broad commitment to play by global rules and do its part to address global challenges like the spread of weapons of mass destruction and climate change? It is growing stronger -- but will it use that strength to build a more secure Asia, or to threaten the freedom and security of its neighbors? Ultimately, the answers will come from China. But we have a enormous stake in encouraging it to choose the path of integration and reform, not confrontation and decline. And bringing China into the WTO will make a ^{big} difference.

To understand why, we need to have a clear-eyed view of China ~~clearly~~, neither looking through rose-colored glasses or through the glass darkly. We need to look ~~at~~ its progress and its problems, its system and its strains, its policies and its perceptions of us, of itself, and the world.

In the last 20 years, China has made remarkable progress in building a new economy, lifting more than 200 million people out of absolute poverty. One incredible result is that China now has the largest wireless communications network in the ~~world~~ ^{entire}, and is linking so many ~~consumers~~ ^{people} to one another ^{that} it is adding the equivalent of a new Baby Bell every year.

But China faces daunting problems as well. Its working age population is increasing by more than 12 million people ^{that} equal to the population of New England ^{entire} every year. Tens of millions of peasants are migrating from the countryside, where they see no future, to the city, where only some find work. China's political system has become plagued by corruption. Its air is so dirty that 25 percent of all deaths in China over the age of five come from chronic respiratory disease, four times the rate of the United States. And China's economic growth has slowed just when it needs to be rising to create jobs for the unemployed and maintain support for economic reform.

For all the progress of China's reforms, private enterprise still accounts for less than one-third of its GDP. China's state banks still are making massive loans to struggling state firms, the sector of the economy least likely to succeed.

China's top leaders understand that economic change is both essential and risky. ~~They are~~ ⁸⁺⁴ risky because opening China's antiquated economy to global competition is likely to cause more short-term unemployment and the specter of social unrest. But, interestingly, they also understand that this change is essential because China cannot make the next leap in development without world-class industries and products that can compete in the global economy. And the

only way to produce competitive industries is to open the country to outside competition. In other words, China simply cannot ensure stability by maintaining the status quo. }

What does this mean for us? As the President said when Premier Zhu Rongji visited Washington last year, "if we've learned anything in the last few years from Japan's long recession and Russia's current economic troubles, it is that the weaknesses of great nations can pose as big a challenge to America as their strengths." So as we focus on the potential challenges that a strong China could present to the United States in the future, let us not forget the risks that could be posed by a weak China, beset by internal conflicts, social dislocation, criminal activity, and large-scale illegal emigration -- a vast zone of instability in Asia.

Our interest lies in encouraging both stability and change in China by encouraging it to meet, not stifle, the growing demands of its people for openness, accountability, freedom and reform.

Bringing China into the WTO will help in each way ^{three} ~~ways~~ ^{how?}

First, this is not just an agreement to expand trade between our two countries. It will obligate China to deepen its market reforms ^{and} ~~and open its society to the world.~~ ^{con?} ~~It will increase the pace of change~~ ^{in China.}

Those Chinese leaders who are reform-minded understand that lowering tariffs and other barriers exposes China's state-run industries to competition; many will not be able to compete without fundamental changes in ownership and management. But they also understand that forcing firms to compete is something China must do to sustain its growth. With this WTO agreement, they have chosen to continue opening their economy, despite the risks that path entails. Do we really want to reject that choice?

The introduction of competition results in natural pressure for progress. A decade ago, China's best and brightest college graduates sought jobs in the government, in large state-owned firms or

state-run research institutions or universities. More and more, the best and brightest either are starting their own companies or choosing to work for foreign-invested companies -- where they generally get higher pay, a better work environment, and a chance to get ahead based on merit, not political connections.

~~Industry surveys show that~~ U.S. companies are the leaders in the Chinese market in developing human resources -- by emphasizing teamwork and respect for individual rights. In turn, more and more, Chinese firms are learning that unless they change their working style and treat employees with respect, they will lose out in the competition for top talent. This process will only accelerate as China joins the WTO, and we should do all we can to encourage it, because it will lift the standards of Chinese workers and their expectations.

Second, by accelerating economic change, the agreement we reached also has the potential to encourage China to evolve into a more open and free society.

In ways that are halting, incomplete, but nonetheless real for millions of ordinary Chinese citizens, China's economic opening already has given its people greater scope to live their lives. Take Shanghai, for example, the city that has been most open to international influence. Ten years ago, it was illegal for people in China to own their own homes. Today, 25 percent of Shanghai residents are homeowners. Ten years ago, there were no supermarkets, and citizens had to buy food from state-run outlets using coupons. Today, there are more than 1,000 supermarkets and no more rationing of food. A decade ago, Chinese citizens could rarely travel in or out of their own country. Last year, on New Year's Day, airlines added more than 250 flights to international destinations from Shanghai alone. Nationwide, China has seen the emergence of more than 200,000 professional associations, consumer groups, tenant organizations, environmental groups; a 2,500 percent explosion of print and broadcast media over the past 25 years; and local elections in the vast majority of the country's 900,000 villages.

Let us understand ^{this} very clearly: these changes do not mean that the people of China enjoy political freedom. Chinese authorities still tolerate no organized political dissent or opposition, and no challenge to the Communist Party. Over the past year, we have seen an increase in its crackdown on political activities and dissent; stepped-up controls on unregistered churches; the suppression of ethnic minority groups, especially Tibetans; and the imprisonment of even more dissidents whose only crime is free expression and free speech. Because the Communist Party's ideology has largely been discredited in China, and because it lacks the legitimacy that can only come from democratic choice, it seeks to maintain its grip by suppressing other voices.

So let me make very clear: This agreement is not, by itself, a ^{sufficient} human rights policy for the United States. We must and we will continue to speak out on behalf of the people in China who are persecuted for their political and religious beliefs. That is why we worked hard for the release of Dickinson College librarian Song Yongyi ^[pron: —], who was released just last week. That's why we sponsored a resolution last year in the UN Human Rights Commission condemning China's human rights record and why we're doing it again this year. We will continue to press China to respect global norms on non-proliferation; to encourage a peaceful resolution of issues with Taiwan; to urge China to be part of the solution to the problem of global climate change.

We must continue to work in all these areas. ~~Constant pressure is required in all these areas.~~

~~The fact is that bringing the China into the WTO is not a human rights policy.~~ ^{but} ~~it is one part of a larger strategy to engage China in every forum on every front -~~ but it will reinforce and complement those efforts, and move China in the right direction.

In the past, the Chinese state was every citizens' employer, landlord, shopkeeper, and news provider all rolled into one. By advancing privatization, this agreement will accelerate a process that is removing government from vast areas of people's lives.

to this section,

It is one part of a larger strategy to

integrate China into the institutions, and norms, of the international community.

either
This is
about
along
and
it
looks
like
a
conclusion
or we
need
some
transition
back to
next # 8

By giving investors and property owners predictability and protection against arbitrary government action, it reinforces the idea that individuals have rights. This will give added impetus to those trying to strengthen the Chinese legal system in a way that allows citizens to hold their government truly accountable.

Finally, by opening China's telecommunications market to cutting-edge American technology and international firms, the WTO agreement will help bring the information revolution to cities and towns across China. A year ago, China had two million Internet users. Today, it has nine million. Soon, people in some of the most remote villages in interior China will have access to CNN. And as they become more mobile, more prosperous, and more aware of alternative ways of life, I believe they will seek a stronger voice in shaping their destiny.

Of course, just last week, Beijing announced that it was cracking down on the Internet. ~~When you think about it,~~ It's outrageous -- but it's also futile. In this information age, cracking down on the Internet is like ~~trying to nail Jello to a wall for~~ like King Canute trying to still the waters. Indeed, the fact that the Chinese government is pushing back against the increasing flow of information to the Chinese people only proves that the changes China is undergoing are real and deeply threatening to the status quo. This kind of repression is not an argument for slowing down the effort to bring China into the world; it's an argument for accelerating it.

In the end, ~~Chinese leaders must come to understand~~ as China opens to the information economy, it can succeed only as it liberates the minds of ~~the~~ people and empowers the individual. In this age, you cannot expect people to be creative economically and frozen politically. Nations that ~~are finding~~ ^{find} success in the global economy encourage creative thinking and risk taking. ~~And the more people are educated, the more they tend to think for themselves.~~

It is also true that ~~nations that adjust best to the global economy~~ ^{may also} discover that people are far more willing to tolerate wrenching economic change when they have a say in the decisions that

[Last one education/ knowledge predict for this thought]

From: Orzulak, Paul K. (SPCHW)
Sent: Wednesday, February 02, 2000 9:55 AM
To: @NSA - Natl Security Advisor; @SPEECH - NSC Speechwriters; @PRESS - Public Affairs;
@ASIA - Asian Affairs
Subject: Latest SRB China remarks [UNCLASSIFIED]

For SRB:

The latest draft, with your changes, and additional changes from Malinowski and Lieberthal. Cut by two-thirds of a page. Reference to trade deficit deleted. One last plea: I'm not sure that even King Canute could nail jello to a wall, but leaving that line in may make the second half of the speech more colorful. The same goes for the Shaquille O'Neal line we took out last night. Thanks.



srb-china7.204.2x.doc

Final
Changes

Paul—

I think it's
in great shape.
See few edits
and Albright's
suggestion (which
we should take).

Let's go final

**NATIONAL SECURITY ADVISOR SAMUEL R. BERGER
REMARKS TO
THE WOODROW WILSON CENTER
ON CHINA
WASHINGTON, D.C.
FEBRUARY 2, 2000**

Speaking to the Wilson Center is always a challenging prospect. It brings to mind the story of the man who lived through the famous Johnstown flood. All his life, this man would tell everybody he met the story of how he survived. When he died and went to heaven, he asked St. Peter to convene a crowd so he could tell them about the great flood. St. Peter said, "I'd be happy to. But you have to remember one thing -- Noah will be in the audience."

There's more than one foreign policy Noah in this distinguished audience. Indeed, Lee Hamilton himself comes with an entire Ark. For more than 30 years, Lee brought a steady hand to foreign policy in Congress, with the emphasis always on patriotism, not partisanship. I thank him for that.

Last week in his State of the Union Address, the President gave a compelling summary of the challenges America will face in the 21st Century. Looking ahead, there's good reason for optimism. This month, America marks the longest economic expansion in our history. Our military strength is unchallenged. Our alliances are strong. Our values are ascendant in the world. Eighty years after Woodrow Wilson hoped American leadership would help make the world safe for democracy, for the first time ever, more than half the world's people now live under governments of their own choosing.

But as the President said, this is not a world without dangers to us. Our security can be threatened by regional conflicts that pose the risk of a wider war. The march of technology can give terrorists and hostile nations the means to undermine our defenses, and force us to once

again live in fear. The stability of the 21st Century can be threatened by an ever-widening gap between rich and poor. And of course, there is the possibility that our former adversaries Russia and China will fail to emerge in this century stable, prosperous, and democratic.

Today, I want to talk about China. Since President Nixon went to China in 1972, the United States has sought to develop a constructive relationship with Beijing, initially as a counterweight to the Soviet Union and later in recognition of China's growing importance in its own right. We have worked for the emergence of a China (That contributes to peace in Asia. A China) with an economy that is open to American products, farmers, and businesses. A China whose people have access to ideas and information, ~~A China~~ that upholds the rule of law at home and adheres to global rules on everything from nuclear non-proliferation to human rights to trade.

This year, we have an unprecedented opportunity to advance those goals. The opportunity is China's entry into the World Trade Organization.

But before America can realize the full market-opening benefits of Chinese entry into the WTO, Congress must answer a simple question: will it grant China permanent Normal Trade Relations status, which is the same arrangement we have given to 132 of the other 134 countries in the WTO? ? Doing so is necessary to guarantee the full benefits of the agreement we negotiated with China. Or will Congress turn its back on the sweeping changes China has agreed to make and risk losing ground on the issues we all care about?

Every debate on trade must first answer the threshold question: will our economy and our workforce benefit from the terms we've negotiated, or will they suffer? From an economic perspective, there is no denying that this agreement strongly benefits the United States.

For years, China has had open access to our markets, while its markets have been in many ways closed to American products and services. This agreement requires China to make wide-ranging

new concessions to open its market, while we have agreed only to maintain the market access policies we already apply to China. Denying China PNTR simply would deprive American companies and workers of the full benefits of China's concessions -- the favorable market access and ~~effective~~ ⁹ dispute settlement that our European, Japanese, and other competitors will have.

This agreement will dramatically reduce China's tariffs on everything from agricultural and industrial products to computers and semiconductors. It directly responds to concerns about unfair trade practices in China and allows our businesses to export to China from here at home, and have their own distribution network in China, rather than being forced to set up factories there to sell products through Chinese partners.

That is what this agreement means in principle. Here is what it means in practice.

Consider the auto industry. Right now, a car made in Dearborn faces an 80 to 100 percent tariff before it can be sold in China -- which prices us out of the market. If you want to sell cars in China, you need to base your operations in China. To do that, you must form a joint venture with a Chinese state-run enterprise and give it at least a 51% stake. You also must agree to transfer a significant amount of your technology to China, and teach the Chinese how to use it -- which means you are transferring both your product and expertise to your eventual competitors. And because of local content requirements, most parts have to be made in China, too.

In addition, Americans cannot now directly run parts distribution centers in China, so once your parts are made, Chinese partners have to sell them for you. Americans are not allowed to directly own service centers, either. And all this assumes that Chinese consumers can buy the cars in the first place, because the only financing that is allowed in China is through state-run banks -- and they don't make loans for cars. Little wonder that there are many times more bicycles in China than automobiles.

Under the new agreement, it's completely different. Tariffs on American cars will fall by nearly 75 percent, so we can compete in Chinese markets. The requirement that we have to link up with Chinese enterprises is eliminated. So is the requirement that we have to transfer our technology. And, American manufacturers will now be free to use parts made in America for assembly in China, to set up their own distribution centers, to run their own service shops, and to provide their own financing to consumers.

From our perspective, it means that we're going to sell a lot more American cars in China, which means more jobs in America. In return, the Chinese people end up with much better products at lower prices. Take that example and multiply it across ~~all of~~ our other industries -- from manufacturing to high-tech to insurance to agriculture -- and you begin to get an idea of what this agreement could mean to both our economies.

For our part, we must grant China permanent normal trade relations status. It's important to understand what that means: it simply means that we will give China the same tariff schedule we apply to most every other nation in the world, and China will do likewise. It would eliminate the annual vote on ~~China MFN~~ ^{China's trade status}, which we do not apply to any other WTO member. Some have said we need the annual vote to address other concerns we have with China, on human rights, proliferation, or religious freedom. ~~Of course~~ ^{But} Congress always has the authority to address any part of our relationship with any nation, including China. ~~But~~ ^{China trade} the annual ~~MFN~~ vote has not been an effective instrument. It simply has affirmed our trading relationship with China for ten years in a row. ^{permanent normal Trade status for} What ~~MFN~~ with China will do is get us out of the cycle we are now in, where the future of Chinese trade comes up for a divisive and not very effective vote every single year.

The economic benefits of this deal to America are clear. If Congress votes no, we risk losing the full, enforceable market access benefits of the agreement, as well as the special protections we negotiated. In a global economy, where global markets are essential, American businesses and

workers would be put at an enormous disadvantage, essentially shut off from one fifth of the world. It would be a self-inflicted wound ~~for~~ ⁱⁿ the economic health of America.

But I believe the economic benefits are only the beginning of the argument. For I am convinced that this agreement is as vital to our national security as it is to our economic security.

Our nation has a tremendous stake in how China evolves. We are a Pacific nation which fought three wars in Asia in the 20th Century. Our future is tied to Asia. And the stability of Asia -- economically, politically and militarily -- is inextricably entwined with the stability and direction of China. As China develops, the path it illuminates or the shadow it casts will be felt far from its own borders.

China will write that future as it answers some fundamental questions: It has extended some freedoms -- but will it gain the stability that can only come from respecting human rights and permitting opposing political voices to be heard and felt? [#] It is reforming its economy -- but will it unleash the necessary ingredient of sustained growth in the information age -- namely access by its people to knowledge and unfettered thought? [#] It has become deeply engaged in the international community -- but will it make a broad commitment to play by global rules and do its part to address global challenges like the spread of weapons of mass destruction and climate change? It is growing stronger -- but will it use that strength to build a more secure Asia, or to threaten the freedom and security of its neighbors? Ultimately, the answers will come from China. But we have a enormous stake in encouraging it to choose the path of integration and reform, not confrontation and decline. Bringing China into the WTO will make a big difference.

To understand why, we need to have a clear-eyed view of China, neither looking through rose-colored glasses or through the glass darkly. We need to look at its progress and its problems, its system and its strains, its policies and its perceptions of the world.

In the last 20 years, China has made remarkable progress in building a new economy, lifting more than 200 million people out of absolute poverty. One incredible result is that China now has the largest wireless communications network in the entire world, and is linking so many people to one another that it is adding the equivalent of a new Baby Bell every year.

But China faces daunting problems as well. Its working age population is increasing by more than 12 million people -- equal to the population of New England -- every year. Tens of millions of peasants are migrating from the countryside, where they see no future, to the city, where only some find work. China's political system is plagued by corruption. Its air is so dirty that 25 percent of all deaths in China over the age of five come from chronic respiratory disease, four times the U.S. rate. And China's economic growth has slowed just when it needs to be rising to create jobs for the unemployed and maintain support for economic reform.

For all the progress of China's reforms, private enterprise still accounts for less than one-third of its GDP. China's state banks still are making massive loans to struggling state firms, the sector of the economy least likely to succeed. In other words, China cannot maintain stability or ensure prosperity by maintaining the status quo.

What does this mean for us? As the President said when Premier Zhu Rongji visited Washington last year, "if we've learned anything in the last few years from Japan's long recession and Russia's current economic troubles, it is that the weaknesses of great nations can pose as big a challenge to America as their strengths." So as we focus on the potential challenges that a strong China could present to the United States in the future, let us not forget the risks that could be posed by a weak China, beset by internal conflicts, social dislocation, criminal activity, and large-scale illegal emigration -- a vast zone of instability in Asia.

Our interest lies in encouraging both stability and change in China by encouraging it to meet, not stifle, the growing demands of its people for openness, accountability, freedom and reform.

Bringing China into the WTO will help in three ways. How?

First, this is not just an agreement to expand trade between our two countries. It will obligate China to deepen its market reforms and open its economy to the world. It will increase the pace of change in China.

China's top leaders understand that economic change is both essential and risky. It is risky because opening China's antiquated economy to global competition is likely to cause more short-term unemployment and the specter of social unrest. But, interestingly, they also understand that this change is essential because China cannot make the next leap in development without world-class industries and products that can compete in the global economy. And the only way to produce competitive industries is to open the country to outside competition. With this WTO agreement, they have chosen to continue opening their economy, despite the risks that path entails. Do we really want to reject that choice?

The introduction of competition results in natural pressure for progress. A decade ago, China's best and brightest college graduates sought jobs in the government, in large state-owned firms or state-run research institutions or universities. More and more, the best and brightest either are starting their own companies or choosing to work for foreign-invested companies -- where they generally get higher pay, a better work environment, and a chance to get ahead based on merit, not political connections.

U.S. companies are the leaders in the Chinese market in developing human resources -- by emphasizing teamwork and respect for individual rights. In turn, more and more, Chinese firms are learning that unless they change their working style and treat employees with respect, they will lose out in the competition for top talent. This process will only accelerate as China joins

the WTO, and we should do all we can to encourage it, because it will lift the standards of Chinese workers -- and their expectations.

Second, by accelerating economic change, the agreement we reached also has the potential to encourage China to evolve into a more open society.

In ways that are incomplete, but nonetheless real for millions of ordinary Chinese citizens, China's economic opening already has given its people greater scope to live their lives. Take Shanghai, for example, the city that has been most open to international influence. Ten years ago, people in China did not own their own homes. Today, 25 percent of Shanghai residents are homeowners. When reforms began, there were no supermarkets, and citizens had to buy food from state-run outlets using coupons. Today, there are more than 1,000 supermarkets and no more rationing of food. A decade ago, Chinese citizens could rarely travel in or out of their own country. Last year, on New Year's Day, airlines added more than 250 flights to international destinations from Shanghai alone. Nationwide, China has seen the emergence of more than one million nonprofit and social organizations -- professional associations, consumer groups, tenant organizations, environmental groups; a 2,500 percent explosion of print and broadcast media; and local elections in the vast majority of the country's 900,000 villages.

Let us understand: these changes do not mean that the people of China enjoy political freedom. Chinese authorities still tolerate no organized political dissent or opposition, and no challenge to the Communist Party. Over the past year, we have seen an increase in its crackdown on political activities and dissent; stepped-up controls on unregistered churches; the suppression of ethnic minority groups, especially Tibetans; and the imprisonment of even more dissidents whose only crime is free speech. Because the Communist Party's ideology has largely been discredited in China, and because it lacks the legitimacy that can only come from democratic choice, it seeks to maintain its grip by suppressing other voices.

So let me make very clear: This agreement is not, by itself, a ~~sufficient~~ human rights policy for the United States. We must and we will continue to speak out on behalf of people in China who are persecuted for their political and religious beliefs. That is why we pushed for the release of Dickinson College librarian Song Yongyi [SOONG YOONG-YEE], who was released just last week. That's why we sponsored a resolution last year in the UN Human Rights Commission condemning China's human rights record and why we're doing it again this year. We will continue to press China to respect global norms on non-proliferation; to encourage a peaceful resolution of issues with Taiwan; to urge China to be part of the solution to the problem of global climate change.

With or without this WTO agreement, we will need to continue to work in all these areas. At the same time, I believe this agreement will reinforce and complement these efforts, and help move China in the right direction in fundamental ways.

For example, in the past, the Chinese state was every citizens' employer, landlord, shopkeeper, and news provider all rolled into one. By advancing privatization, this agreement will accelerate a process that is removing government from vast areas of people's lives.

By giving investors and property owners predictability and protection against arbitrary government action, it reinforces the idea that individuals have rights. This will give added impetus to those trying to strengthen the Chinese legal system in a way that allows citizens to hold their government truly accountable.

Finally, by opening China's telecommunications market to cutting-edge American technology and international firms, the WTO agreement will help bring the information revolution to cities and towns across China. A year ago, China had two million Internet addresses. Today, it has nine million. Soon, people in some of the most remote villages in interior China will have access

to CNN. And as they become more mobile, more prosperous, and more aware of alternative ways of life, I believe they will seek a stronger voice in shaping their destiny.

Of course, just last week, Beijing announced that it was cracking down on the Internet. It's outrageous -- but it's also futile. In this information age, cracking down on the Internet is like King Canute trying to still the waters. Indeed, the fact that the Chinese government is pushing back against the increasing flow of information to the Chinese people only proves that the changes China is undergoing are real and ~~deeply~~ ^{deeply} threatening to the status quo. This kind of repression is not an argument for slowing down the effort to bring China into the world; it's an argument for accelerating it. (ok)

In the end, as China opens to the information economy, it can succeed only as it liberates the minds of its people and empowers the individual. In this age, you cannot expect people to be creative economically and frozen politically. ^{At the same time,} China may ~~also~~ discover that people are far more willing to tolerate wrenching economic change when they have a say in the decisions that affect their lives. Compare the fates of the governments of an autocratic Indonesia and a democratic South Korea as they faced the Asian financial crisis over the past two years. Bringing China into the WTO doesn't guarantee it will make the right choice for political reform. But by accelerating the process of economic change, it will force China to confront that choice sooner, and make the imperative for that choice far more powerful.

How will China change? I believe it will be a combination of internal pressures for a greater voice and external validation of the human rights struggle by the international community. The WTO agreement will bolster the former while we maintain our leadership role in the latter. Our policy should no more be measured week to week or year to year than you could have measured our policy toward the Soviet Union -- with which we continued to engage, even though it posed a much greater threat to us than China does today.

This agreement will advance our national security interests in a third way as well: it increases the chance that in the new century China will be on the inside of the international system, playing by the rules, instead of on the outside, denying them.

Under the terms of this agreement, the Chinese government is obliged to publish laws and regulations. It subjects some of its most important decisions, for the first time, to the review of an international body. Why does that matter?

Quite simply, it applies to China the basic principle at the heart of the concept of the rule of law: that governments cannot behave arbitrarily at home or abroad, that their actions are subject to ~~limits and to~~ rules consistently applied. Remember, China is choosing to embrace these obligations. ~~As~~ ^{that} China becomes a stakeholder in the WTO and other international regimes, it will be more likely to accept the legitimacy of international norms, and define its future within the international community, not outside of it.

I know some say that if China is allowed to join the WTO, it actually will undermine our effort to strengthen global norms in two very important areas: labor rights and the environment. But the fact is, most of the members of the WTO already are developing countries, with the same concerns ^{that} trading rules not become an instrument to restrict their growth. China's membership won't change that equation. And considering the fact that China is home to one-fifth of the world's people and the source of a rising share of greenhouse gas emissions, it is hard to imagine an effective global effort to meet ~~these~~ ^{environmental} challenges without China.

It's fair to ask: how do we know China will do what it promised to do in the agreement we signed? Of course, we cannot know for sure. But we do have reasons to believe that it will, and mechanisms to reinforce that.

First, China is pledging to open its economy and its markets not just as a means of getting in the WTO, but because most of its leaders believe reform is in China's interest.

Second, as a member of the WTO, non-compliance by China is subject to dispute resolution under the WTO; like any other country, China will confront judgments backed by a 135-member body, rather than being able to chalk up friction to supposed U.S. bullying. Right now, if China treats our products unfairly, we have no recourse, short of pulling the plug on trade. This agreement increases our leverage with China in the event of a future trade dispute. If China does not comply with adverse rulings by the WTO, we are entitled to take equivalent action against China. ~~And this process gives the forces of reform within China greater leverage to insist that China move in the right direction.~~

In the end, we must and will continue to protect our interests with firmness and candor. But we must do so without isolating China from the global forces that can empower its people to build a better future. That would leave the Chinese people with less access to information, less contact with the democratic world, and more resistance from their government to outside influence and ideas. No one could possibly benefit from that except for the most rigid, anti-democratic elements in China itself. Let's not give them a victory by locking China out of the WTO.

The question is not whether or not this trade agreement by itself will cure serious and disturbing issues of economic and political freedom in China; ~~the~~ ^{the} issue is whether it will push things in the right direction. President Clinton believes it will. Some of the most courageous proponents of change in China agree. Martin Lee, leader of Hong Kong's Democratic party, says that without entry to the WTO, "any hope for the political and reform process would also recede." And Chinese dissident Ren Wanding [REN WAHN-DING] said upon the deal's completion: "Before, the sky was black. now it is light. This can be a new beginning."

U.C. ?

It is our shared conviction that supporting this agreement is a new beginning. It is the right thing for America, for China, for Asia, and for the world. It will increase the chance that China will define its future within the international community, and move toward a more open society that upholds the rule of law. That is what is at stake in this debate. Let us have the wisdom to choose wisely. Thank you.

Sutphen, Mona K. (NSA)

From: Orzulak, Paul K. (SPCHW)
Sent: Wednesday, February 02, 2000 10:15 AM
To: @NSA - Natl Security Advisor
Cc: @SPEECH - NSC Speechwriters; @PRESS - Public Affairs; @ASIA - Asian Affairs
Subject: One addition to China speech from State [UNCLASSIFIED]

OK

For SRB:

State called to say that Secretary Albright would like to add in our litany of steps we have taken on human rights the fact that we sanctioned China as a "country of particular concern" under the International Religious Freedom Act last year. @speech and @asia agree.

Orzulak, Paul K. (SPCHW)

From: Orzulak, Paul K. (SPCHW)
Sent: Wednesday, February 02, 2000 10:15 AM
To: @NSA - Natl Security Advisor
Cc: @SPEECH - NSC Speechwriters; @PRESS - Public Affairs; @ASIA - Asian Affairs
Subject: One addition to China speech from State [UNCLASSIFIED]

For SRB:

State called to say that Secretary Albright would like to add in our litany of steps we have taken on human rights the fact that we sanctioned China as a "country of particular concern" under the International Religious Freedom Act last year. @speech and @asia agree.

affect their lives. Compare the fates of the governments of an autocratic Indonesia and a democratic South Korea as they faced the Asian financial crisis ^{over the past two years.} Bringing China into the WTO doesn't guarantee it will make the right choice for political reform. But by accelerating the process of economic change, it will force China to confront that choice sooner, and make the imperative for that choice far more powerful.

How will China change? I believe it will be a combination of internal pressures for a greater voice and external validation of the human rights struggle by the international community. The WTO agreement will ^{subtle force} ~~contribute to~~ the internal forces while we ~~must~~ maintain our leadership role in the latter. Our policy should no more be measured week to week or year to year than you could have measured our policy toward the Soviet Union ⁻⁻ with which we continued to engage, even though it posed a much greater threat to us than China does today.

This agreement will advance our national security interests in a third way as well: it increases the chance that in the new century China will be on the inside of the international system, playing by the rules, instead of on the outside, denying them.

Under the terms of this agreement, the Chinese government is obliged to publish laws and regulations. It subjects some of its most important decisions, for the first time, to the review of an international body. Why does that matter?

Quite simply, it applies to China the basic principle at the heart of the concept of the rule of law: that governments cannot behave arbitrarily at home or abroad, that their actions are subject to limits and to rules consistently applied. Remember, China is choosing to embrace these obligations. As China becomes a stakeholder in the WTO and other international regimes, it will be more likely to accept the legitimacy of international norms, and define its future within the international community, not outside of it.

I know some say that if China is allowed to join the WTO, it actually will undermine our effort to strengthen global norms in two very important areas: labor rights and the environment. But the fact is, most of the members of the WTO already are developing countries, with the same concerns that ~~these norms~~ ^{trading rules} not become an instrument to restrict their growth. China's membership won't change that equation. And considering the fact that China is home to one-fifth of the world's workers and the source of a rising share of greenhouse gas emissions, it is hard to imagine an effective global effort to meet ~~these~~ ^{these} challenges without China. ~~Trying to make necessary progress on labor and the environment in a global system that does not include China would be like building a house with a roof that covers just four-fifths of the rooms.~~

It's fair to ask: how do we know China will do what it promised to do in the agreement we signed? Of course, we cannot know for sure. But we do have reasons to believe that it will, and mechanisms to reinforce that.

First, China is pledging to open its economy and its markets not just as a means of getting in the WTO, but because most of its leaders believe reform is in China's interest.

Second, as a member of the WTO, non-compliance by China is subject to dispute resolution under the WTO; like any other country, China will confront judgments backed by a 135-member body, rather than being able to chalk up friction to supposed U.S. bullying. Right now, if China treats our products unfairly, we have no recourse, short of pulling the plug on trade. This agreement increases our leverage with China in the event of a future trade dispute. If China does not comply with adverse rulings by the WTO, we are entitled to take equivalent action against China. And this process gives the forces of reform within China greater leverage to insist that China move in the right direction.

In the end, we must and will continue to protect our interests with firmness and candor. But we must do so without isolating China from the global forces that can empower its people to build a

better future. That would leave the Chinese people with less access to information, less contact with the democratic world, and more resistance from their government to outside influence and ideas. No one could possibly benefit from that except for the most rigid, anti-democratic elements in China itself. Let's not give them a victory by locking China out of the WTO.

The question is not whether or not this trade agreement by itself will cure serious and disturbing issues of economic and political freedom in China; the issue is whether it will push things in the right direction. President Clinton believes it will. Some of the most courageous proponents of change in China agree. Martin Lee, leader of Hong Kong's Democratic party, says that without entry to the WTO, "any hope for the political and reform process would also recede." And Chinese dissident Ren Wanding [NOTE: CHECK PRONUNCIATION] said upon the deal's completion: "Before, the sky was black. now it is light. This can be a new beginning."

It is our shared conviction that supporting this agreement is a new beginning. It is the right thing for America, for China, for Asia, and for the world. It will move China toward defining its future ~~as part of~~ within the international community, and toward a more open, prosperous, and eventually democratic society. That is what is at stake in this debate. Let us have the wisdom to choose wisely. Thank you.

[awkward]

(REN WAHN-DING)

2/1/00 9:00 p.m.
Orzulak

**NATIONAL SECURITY ADVISOR SAMUEL R. BERGER
REMARKS TO
THE WOODROW WILSON CENTER
ON CHINA
WASHINGTON, D.C.
FEBRUARY 2, 2000**

Speaking to the Wilson Center is always a challenging prospect. It brings to mind the story of the man who lived through the famous Johnstown flood. All his life, this man would ~~stop and~~ tell everybody he met the story of how he survived. When he died and went to heaven, he asked St. Peter to convene a crowd so he could tell them about the great flood. St. Peter said, "I'd be happy to. But you have to remember one thing -- Noah will be in the audience."

There's more than one foreign policy Noah in this ^{distinguished} ~~esteemed~~ audience. Indeed, Lee Hamilton himself comes with an entire Ark. For 20 years, ^{Lee} ~~he~~ brought a steady hand to foreign policy in Congress, with the emphasis always on patriotism, not partisanship. I thank him for that.

Last week in his State of the Union Address, the President gave a compelling summary of the challenges America will face in the 21st Century. Looking ahead, there's good reason for optimism. ^{This month, America marks} ~~America is enjoying~~ the longest economic expansion in ^{our} ~~its~~ history. Our military strength is unchallenged. Our alliances are strong. Our values are ascendant ^{in the world.} Eighty years after

Woodrow Wilson hoped American leadership would help make the world safe for democracy ^{for the first time ever,} ~~more~~ more than half the world's people ~~now~~ live under governments of their own choosing.

But as the President said, this is not a world without dangers to us. Our security can be threatened by regional conflicts that pose the risk of a wider war. The march of technology can give terrorists and hostile nations the means to undermine our defenses, and force us to once again live in fear. The stability of the 21st Century can be threatened by an ever-widening gap

between rich and poor. And of course, there is the possibility that our former adversaries Russia and China will fail to emerge in this century stable, prosperous, and democratic.

Today, I want to talk about China. Since President Nixon went to China in 1972, the United States has sought to develop a constructive relationship with Beijing, initially as a counterweight to the Soviet Union and later in recognition of China's growing importance in its own right. We have worked for the emergence of a China with an economy that is open to American products, farmers, and businesses. A China whose people have access to ideas and information. A China that upholds the rule of law at home and adheres to global rules on everything from nuclear non-proliferation to human rights to trade.

This year, we have an unprecedented opportunity to advance those goals. The opportunity, of course, is China's entry into the World Trade Organization.

But before America can realize the full market-opening benefits of Chinese entry into the WTO, Congress must answer a simple question: will it grant China permanent Normal Trade Relations status, ^{Doing so} which, in effect, is necessary to guarantee the full benefits of the agreement we negotiated with China, and the same arrangement we have given to 132 of the other 134 countries in the WTO? Or will Congress turn its back on the ~~most~~ sweeping changes China has agreed to make ~~in decades~~ and risk losing ground on the issues we all care about?

This will be an intense and important debate. There are legitimate concerns about China. So let me take a few minutes today to talk about why supporting this agreement ^{and} and permanent NTR for China -- is not only in our economic interest, but ^{is} in our national security interest as well.

Every debate on trade must first answer the threshold question: will our economy and our workforce benefit from the terms we've negotiated, or will they suffer? From an economic perspective, there is no denying that this agreement strongly benefits the United States.

For years, China has had ~~extraordinary~~ ^{open} access to our markets, while its markets have been in many ways closed to American products and services. Indeed, we ran a \$63 billion trade deficit with China last year ^{our} largest with any country. This agreement requires China to make ~~sweeping new concessions~~ ^{wide-ranging} to open its market ~~to America~~ ^{only}, while we have ~~simply~~ agreed to maintain the market access policies we already apply to China ~~by granting it permanent NTR~~. Denying China PNTR would ~~simply risk depriving~~ ^{deprive} American companies and workers of the ~~early~~ ^{full benefits of China's} favorable market access ~~and effective enforcement through WTO dispute settlement~~ ^{concessions} that our European, Japanese, and other competitors ~~would~~ ^{would} have.

This agreement will dramatically reduce China's tariffs on everything from agricultural and industrial products to computers and semiconductors. It directly responds to concerns about unfair trade practices in China ~~from product dumping to technology transfers~~ ^{with} and gives us protections against import surges from China that we have ~~with regard to~~ ^{here at} no other country. And it allows our businesses to export to China from home, and have their own distribution ^{networks} in China, rather than being forced to set up factories in China to sell products through Chinese control.

That is what this agreement means in principle. Here is what it means in practice.

Consider the auto industry. Right now, a car made in Dearborn faces an 80 to 100 percent tariff before it can be sold in China --which prices us out of the market. If you want to sell cars in China, you need to base your operations in China. To do that, you must form a joint venture with a Chinese ~~middle man~~ ^{significant} state run enterprise and give ~~them~~ ^{it} at least 51% ^{of the operation}. You also must to transfer a ~~large~~ ^{significant} amount of your technology to China, and teach the Chinese how to use it -- ^{agree} which means you are transferring both your product and expertise to your eventual competitors. And because of local content requirements, most parts have to be made in China, too.

In addition, Americans cannot now directly run parts distribution centers in China, so once your parts are made, Chinese partners have to sell them for you. Americans are not allowed to

directly own service centers, either. And all this assumes that Chinese consumers can buy the cars in the first place, because the only financing that is allowed in China is through state-run banks ~~and they don't make loans for cars.~~ Little wonder that there are many times more bicycles in China than automobiles.

Under the new agreement, it's completely different. Tariffs on American cars ^{will} fall by nearly 75 percent, so we can compete in Chinese markets. The requirement that we have to link up with Chinese enterprises is eliminated. So is the requirement that we have to transfer our technology. And, American manufacturers will now be free to use parts made in America for assembly in China, to set up their own distribution centers, to run their own service shops, and to provide their own financing to consumers.

From our perspective, it means that we're going to sell a lot more American cars in China, which means more jobs in America. In return, the Chinese people end up with much better products at lower prices. Take that example and multiply it ~~out~~ ^{across} all of our other industries ^{from} manufacturing ~~to high-tech to insurance to~~ agriculture ^{and} you begin to get an idea of what this agreement could mean to both our economies.

For our part, we must grant China permanent normal trade relations status. It's important to understand what that means: it simply means that we will give China the same tariff schedule we apply to most every other nation in the world, and China will do likewise. It would eliminate the annual vote on China MFN, which we do not apply to any other WTO member. Some have said we need the annual vote to address other concerns we have with China, on human rights, proliferation, or religious freedom. ^{Of course} Congress always has the authority to address any part of our relationship with any nation, ^{including China} ~~as well as any other part of our relationship with China or any other country.~~ ^{But} the annual MFN vote has ~~not~~ been an effective instrument. It has simply affirmed our trading relationship with China for ten years in a row. ~~In many ways, denying China normal tariffs, because it has such a dramatic effect on us as well as them, makes it an ineffective~~ ^{the prospect of}

for a decade
~~permanent normal trade~~ *trading relations with China*
 remedy. What ~~it~~ will do is get us out of the cycle we are now in, where the future of Chinese trade comes up for a vote every single year in Congress.
divisive and not very productive
when for a decade

The economic benefits of this deal to America are clear. If Congress votes no, we risk losing the full, enforceable market access benefits of the agreement, as well as the special protections we negotiated. ~~On~~ *in* a global economy, where global markets are essential, American businesses and workers would be put at an enormous disadvantage, essentially ~~hobbled with~~ *shut off from* one fifth of the world. It would be a self-inflicted wound that would hurt the economic health of America.

But I believe
~~For~~ *this agreement* the economic benefits are only the beginning of the argument, not the end. For I am convinced that ~~it~~ is as vital to our national security as it is to our economic security.

(We are a Pacific nation which has fought three [?] wars in Asia in the 20th century.)
 Our nation has a tremendous stake in how China evolves. ~~Our future is substantially tied to~~ *And the* Asia. ~~The~~ *stability of Asia* economically, politically and militarily ~~is~~ *is* inextricably entwined with the stability and direction of China. As China develops, the path it illuminates or the shadow it casts will be felt ~~very~~ *far* from its own borders.

China will write that future as it answers some fundamental questions: It has extended some freedoms -- but will it gain the stability that can only come from respecting human rights and permitting opposing political voices to be heard ~~and~~ *by its people* and felt? It is reforming its economy -- but will it unleash the necessary ingredient of sustained growth in the information age -- namely access to knowledge and unfettered thought? It has become deeply engaged in the international community -- but will it make a broad commitment to play by global rules and do its part to address global challenges like the spread of weapons of mass destruction and climate change? It is growing stronger -- but will it use that strength to build a more secure Asia, or to threaten the freedom and security of its neighbors? Ultimately, the answers will come from China. But we have a enormous stake in encouraging it to choose the path of integration and reform, not confrontation and decline. And bringing China into the WTO will make a *big* difference.

To understand why, we need to have a clear-eyed view of China ~~clearly~~, neither looking through rose-colored glasses or through the glass darkly. We need to look ~~at~~ its progress and its problems, its system and its strains, its policies and its perceptions of us, of itself, and the world.

In the last 20 years, China has made remarkable progress in building a new economy, lifting more than 200 million people out of absolute poverty. One incredible result is that China now has the largest wireless communications network in the ~~world~~ ^{Century}, and is linking so many ~~consumers~~ ^{people} to one another ~~it~~ ^{met} is adding the equivalent of a new Baby Bell every year.

But China faces daunting problems as well. Its working age population is increasing by more than 12 million people ~~equal~~ ^{met} to the population of New England ~~every~~ ^{Century} year. Tens of millions of peasants are migrating from the countryside, where they see no future, to the city, where only some find work. China's political system has become plagued by corruption. Its air is so dirty that 25 percent of all deaths in China over the age of five come from chronic respiratory disease, four times the rate of the United States. And China's economic growth has slowed just when it needs to be rising to create jobs for the unemployed and maintain support for economic reform.

For all the progress of China's reforms, private enterprise still accounts for less than one-third of its GDP. China's state banks still are making massive loans to struggling state firms, the sector of the economy least likely to succeed.

China's top leaders understand that economic change is both essential and risky. ~~They are~~ ⁸⁺²¹ risky because opening China's antiquated economy to global competition is likely to cause more short-term unemployment and the specter of social unrest. But, interestingly, they also understand that this change is essential because China cannot make the next leap in development without world-class industries and products that can compete in the global economy. And the

only way to produce competitive industries is to open the country to outside competition. In other words, China simply cannot ensure stability by maintaining the status quo.

What does this mean for us? As the President said when Premier Zhu Rongji visited Washington last year, "if we've learned anything in the last few years from Japan's long recession and Russia's current economic troubles, it is that the weaknesses of great nations can pose as big a challenge to America as their strengths." So as we focus on the potential challenges that a strong China could present to the United States in the future, let us not forget the risks that could be posed by a weak China, beset by internal conflicts, social dislocation, criminal activity, and large-scale illegal emigration -- a vast zone of instability in Asia.

Our interest lies in encouraging both stability and change in China by encouraging it to meet, not stifle, the growing demands of its people for openness, accountability, freedom and reform. Bringing China into the WTO will help in each way. *How?*

First, this is not just an agreement to expand trade between our two countries. It will obligate China to deepen its market reforms and open its society to the world. It will increase the pace of change *in China.*

Those Chinese leaders who are reform-minded understand that lowering tariffs and other barriers exposes China's state-run industries to competition; many will not be able to compete without fundamental changes in ownership and management. But they also understand that forcing firms to compete is something China must do to sustain its growth. With this WTO agreement, they have chosen to continue opening their economy, despite the risks that path entails. Do we really want to reject that choice?

The introduction of competition results in natural pressure for progress. A decade ago, China's best and brightest college graduates sought jobs in the government, in large state-owned firms or

state-run research institutions or universities. More and more, the best and brightest either are starting their own companies or choosing to work for foreign-invested companies -- where they generally get higher pay, a better work environment, and a chance to get ahead based on merit, not political connections.

~~Industry surveys show that~~ U.S. companies are the leaders in the Chinese market in developing human resources -- by emphasizing teamwork and respect for individual rights. In turn, more and more, Chinese firms are learning that unless they change their working style and treat employees with respect, they will lose out in the competition for top talent. This process will only accelerate as China joins the WTO, and we should do all we can to encourage it, because it will lift the standards of Chinese workers ^{and} and their expectations.

Second, by accelerating economic change, the agreement we reached also has the potential to encourage China to evolve into a more open (and free) society.

In ways that are halting, incomplete, but nonetheless real for millions of ordinary Chinese citizens, China's economic opening already has given its people greater scope to live their lives. Take Shanghai, for example, the city that has been most open to international influence. Ten years ago, ~~it was illegal~~ ^{there was no chance} for people in China ^{did not} to own their own homes. Today, 25 percent of Shanghai residents are homeowners. Ten years ago, there were no supermarkets, and citizens had to buy food from state-run outlets using coupons. Today, there are more than 1,000 supermarkets and no more rationing of food. A decade ago, Chinese citizens could rarely travel in or out of their own country. Last year, on New Year's Day, airlines added more than 250 flights to international destinations from Shanghai alone. Nationwide, China has seen the emergence of more than 200,000 professional associations, consumer groups, tenant organizations, environmental groups; a 2,500 percent explosion of print and broadcast media over the past 25 years; and local elections in the vast majority of the country's 900,000 villages.

That why we sanctified China as a country of particular concern under the international religious freedom act this year

This
 Let us understand very clearly: these changes do not mean that the people of China enjoy political freedom. Chinese authorities still tolerate no organized political dissent or opposition, and no challenge to the Communist Party. Over the past year, we have seen an increase in its crackdown on political activities and dissent; stepped-up controls on unregistered churches; the suppression of ethnic minority groups, especially Tibetans; and the imprisonment of even more dissidents whose only crime is free expression and free speech. Because the Communist Party's ideology has largely been discredited in China, and because it lacks the legitimacy that can only come from democratic choice, it seeks to maintain its grip by suppressing other voices.

sufficient
 So let me make very clear: This agreement is not, by itself, a human rights policy for the United States. We must and we will continue to speak out on behalf of the people in China who are persecuted for their political and religious beliefs. That is why we worked hard for the release of Dickinson College librarian Song Yongyi, *[pron: —]*, who was released just last week. That's why we sponsored a resolution last year in the UN Human Rights Commission condemning China's human rights record and why we're doing it again this year. We will continue to press China to respect global norms on non-proliferation; to encourage a peaceful resolution of issues with Taiwan; to urge China to be part of the solution to the problem of global climate change.

(SONG YONGYI YONG-YEE)

We must continue to work in all these areas. ~~Constant pressure is required in all these areas.~~

Further This doesn't belong here (it seems like a conclusion) or we need some transition back to next #
 The fact is that bringing the China into the WTO is not a human rights policy ~~but it is one part of a larger strategy to engage China in every forum on every front~~ but it will reinforce and complement those efforts, and move China in the right direction.

It is one part of a larger strategy to

In the past, the Chinese state was every citizens' employer, landlord, shopkeeper, and news provider all rolled into one. By advancing privatization, this agreement will accelerate a process that is removing government from vast areas of people's lives.

to this section,

integrate China into the institutions, and norms, of the international community.

By giving investors and property owners predictability and protection against arbitrary government action, it reinforces the idea that individuals have rights. This will give added impetus to those trying to strengthen the Chinese legal system in a way that allows citizens to hold their government truly accountable.

Finally, by opening China's telecommunications market to cutting-edge American technology and international firms, the WTO agreement will help bring the information revolution to cities and towns across China. A year ago, China had two million Internet users. Today, it has nine million. Soon, people in some of the most remote villages in interior China will have access to CNN. And as they become more mobile, more prosperous, and more aware of alternative ways of life, I believe they will seek a stronger voice in shaping their destiny.

Of course, just last week, Beijing announced that it was cracking down on the Internet. ~~When you think about it,~~ It's outrageous -- but it's also futile. In this information age, cracking down on the Internet is like ~~trying to nail Jello to a wall for~~ like King Canute trying to still the waters. Indeed, the fact that the Chinese government is pushing back against the increasing flow of information to the Chinese people only proves that the changes China is undergoing are real and deeply threatening to the status quo. This kind of repression is not an argument for slowing down the effort to bring China into the world; it's an argument for accelerating it.

In the end, ~~Chinese leaders must come to understand~~ as China opens to the information economy, it can succeed only as it liberates the minds of ~~the~~ ^{its} people and empowers the individual. In this age, you cannot expect people to be creative economically and frozen politically. Nations that ~~are finding~~ ^{find} success in the global economy encourage creative thinking and risk taking. [And the more people are educated, the more they tend to think for themselves.]

It is also true that nations that adjust best to the global economy discover that people are far more willing to tolerate wrenching economic change when they have a say in the decisions that

[Lost the education/knowledge predictive for this thought]

affect their lives. Compare the fates of the governments of an autocratic Indonesia and a democratic South Korea as they faced the Asian financial crisis ^{over the past two years.} Bringing China into the WTO doesn't guarantee it will make the right choice for political reform. But by accelerating the process of economic change, it will force China to confront that choice sooner, and make the imperative for that choice far more powerful.

How will China change? I believe it will be a combination of internal pressures for a greater voice and external validation of the human rights struggle by the international community. The WTO agreement will contribute to the internal forces while we must maintain our leadership role in the latter. Our policy should no more be measured week to week or year to year than you could have measured our policy toward the Soviet Union [—] with which we continued to engage, even though it posed a much greater threat to us than China does today.

This agreement will advance our national security interests in a third way as well: it increases the chance that in the new century China will be on the inside of the international system, playing by the rules, instead of on the outside, denying them.

Under the terms of this agreement, the Chinese government is obliged to publish laws and regulations. It subjects some of its most important decisions, for the first time, to the review of an international body. Why does that matter?

Quite simply, it applies to China the basic principle at the heart of the concept of the rule of law: that governments cannot behave arbitrarily at home or abroad, that their actions are subject to limits and to rules consistently applied. Remember, China is choosing to embrace these obligations. As China becomes a stakeholder in the WTO and other international regimes, it will be more likely to accept the legitimacy of international norms, and define its future within the international community, not outside of it.

I know some say that if China is allowed to join the WTO, it actually will undermine our effort to strengthen global norms in two very important areas: labor rights and the environment. But the fact is, most of the members of the WTO already are developing countries, with the same concerns that ~~these norms~~ ^{trading rules} not become an instrument to restrict their growth. China's membership won't change that equation. And considering the fact that China is home to one-fifth of the world's workers and the source of a rising share of greenhouse gas emissions, it is hard to imagine an effective global effort to meet ~~these~~ ^{these} challenges without China. ~~Ftrying to make necessary progress on labor and the environment in a global system that does not include China would be like building a house with a roof that covers just four-fifths of the rooms.~~

It's fair to ask: how do we know China will do what it promised to do in the agreement we signed? Of course, we cannot know for sure. But we do have reasons to believe that it will, and mechanisms to reinforce that.

First, China is pledging to open its economy and its markets not just as a means of getting in the WTO, but because most of its leaders believe reform is in China's interest.

Second, as a member of the WTO, non-compliance by China is subject to dispute resolution under the WTO; like any other country, China will confront judgments backed by a 135-member body, rather than being able to chalk up friction to supposed U.S. bullying. Right now, if China treats our products unfairly, we have no recourse, short of pulling the plug on trade. This agreement increases our leverage with China in the event of a future trade dispute. If China does not comply with adverse rulings by the WTO, we are entitled to take equivalent action against China. And this process gives the forces of reform within China greater leverage to insist that China move in the right direction.

In the end, we must and will continue to protect our interests with firmness and candor. But we must do so without isolating China from the global forces that can empower its people to build a

better future. That would leave the Chinese people with less access to information, less contact with the democratic world, and more resistance from their government to outside influence and ideas. No one could possibly benefit from that except for the most rigid, anti-democratic elements in China itself. Let's not give them a victory by locking China out of the WTO.

The question is not whether or not this trade agreement by itself will cure serious and disturbing issues of economic and political freedom in China; the issue is whether it will push things in the right direction. President Clinton believes it will. Some of the most courageous proponents of change in China agree. Martin Lee, leader of Hong Kong's Democratic party, says that without entry to the WTO, "any hope for the political and reform process would also recede." And Chinese dissident Ren Wanding [NOTE: CHECK PRONUNCIATION] said upon the deal's completion: "Before, the sky was black. now it is light. This can be a new beginning."

It is our shared conviction that supporting this agreement is a new beginning. It is the right thing for America, for China, for Asia, and for the world. It will move China toward defining its future ~~as part of~~ within the international community, and toward a more open, prosperous, and eventually democratic society. That is what is at stake in this debate. Let us have the wisdom to choose wisely. Thank you.

[awkward]

(REN WAHN-DING)

THE WHITE HOUSE
Office of the Press Secretary

EMBARGOED FOR RELEASE
UNTIL 12:30 P.M. EST
WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 2, 2000

As Prepared for Delivery

REMARKS BY SAMUEL R. BERGER
ASSISTANT TO THE PRESIDENT FOR NATIONAL SECURITY AFFAIRS
ON CHINA

The Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars
Washington, D.C.

February 2, 2000

Speaking to the Wilson Center is always a challenging prospect. It brings to mind the story of the man who lived through the famous Johnstown flood. All his life, this man would tell everybody he met the story of how he survived. When he died and went to heaven, he asked St. Peter to convene a crowd so he could tell them about the great flood. St. Peter said, "I'd be happy to. But you have to remember one thing -- Noah will be in the audience."

There's more than one foreign policy Noah in this distinguished audience. Indeed, Lee Hamilton himself comes with an entire Ark. For more than 30 years, Lee brought a steady hand to foreign policy in Congress, with the emphasis always on patriotism, not partisanship. I thank him for that.

Last week in his State of the Union Address, the President gave a compelling summary of the challenges America will face in the 21st Century. Looking ahead, there's good reason for optimism. This month, America marks the longest economic expansion in our history. Our military strength is unchallenged. Our alliances are strong. Our values are ascendant in the world. Eighty years after Woodrow Wilson hoped American leadership would help make the world safe for democracy, for the first time ever, more than half the world's people now live under governments of their own choosing.

But as the President said, this is not a world without dangers to us. Our security can be threatened by regional conflicts that pose the risk of a wider war. The march of technology can give terrorists and hostile nations the means to undermine our defenses, and force us to once again live in fear. The stability of the 21st Century can be threatened by an ever-widening gap between rich and poor. And of course, there is the possibility that our former adversaries Russia and China will fail to emerge in this century stable, prosperous, and democratic.

Today, I want to talk about China. Since President Nixon went to China in 1972, the United States has sought to develop a constructive relationship with Beijing, initially as a counterweight to the Soviet Union and later in recognition of China's growing importance in its own right. We have worked for the emergence of a China that contributes to peace in Asia. A China with an economy that is open to American products, farmers, and businesses. A China whose people have access to ideas and information, that upholds the rule of law at home and adheres to global rules on everything from nuclear non-proliferation to human rights to trade.

This year, we have an unprecedented opportunity to advance those goals. The opportunity is China's entry into the World Trade Organization.

But before America can realize the full market-opening benefits of Chinese entry into the WTO, Congress must answer a simple question: will it grant China permanent Normal Trade Relations status, which is the same arrangement we have given to 132 of the other 134 countries in the WTO. Doing so is necessary to guarantee the full market-opening benefits of the agreement we negotiated with China. Or will Congress turn its back on the sweeping changes China has agreed to make and risk losing ground on the issues we all care about?

Every debate on trade must first answer the threshold question: will our economy and our workforce benefit from the terms we've negotiated, or will they suffer? From an economic perspective, there is no denying that this agreement strongly benefits the United States.

For years, China has had open access to our markets, while its markets have been in many ways closed to American products and services. This agreement requires China to make wide-ranging new concessions to open its market, while we have agreed only to maintain the market access policies we already apply to China. Denying China PNTR simply would deprive American companies and workers of the full benefits of China's concessions -- the favorable market access and dispute settlement that our European, Japanese, and other competitors will have.

This agreement will dramatically reduce China's tariffs on everything from agricultural and industrial products to computers and semiconductors. It directly responds to concerns about unfair trade practices in China and allows our businesses to export to China from here at home, and have their own distribution network in China, rather than being forced to set up factories there to sell products through Chinese partners.

That is what this agreement means in principle. Here is what it means in practice.

Consider the auto industry. Right now, a car made in Dearborn faces an 80 to 100 percent tariff before it can be sold in China --which prices us out of the market. If you want to sell cars in China, you need to base your operations in China. To do that, you must form a joint venture with a Chinese state-run enterprise and give it at least a 51% stake. You also must agree to transfer a significant amount of your technology to China, and teach the Chinese how to use it -- which means you are transferring both your product and expertise to your eventual competitors. And because of local content requirements, most parts have to be made in China, too.

In addition, Americans cannot now directly run parts distribution centers in China, so once your parts are made, Chinese partners have to sell them for you. Americans are not allowed to directly own service centers, either. And all this assumes that Chinese consumers can buy the cars in the first place, because the only financing that is allowed in China is through state-run banks -- and they don't make loans for cars. Little wonder that there are many times more bicycles in China than automobiles.

Under the new agreement, it's completely different. Tariffs on American cars will fall by nearly 75 percent, so we can compete in Chinese markets. The requirement that we have to link up with Chinese enterprises is eliminated. So is the requirement that we have to transfer our technology. And, American manufacturers will now be free to use parts made in America for assembly in China, to set up their own distribution centers, to run their own service shops, and to provide their own financing to consumers.

From our perspective, it means that we're going to sell a lot more American cars and auto parts in China, which means more jobs in America. In return, the Chinese people end up with much better products at lower prices. Take that example and multiply it across our other industries -- from manufacturing to agriculture -- and you begin to get an idea of what this agreement could mean to both our economies.

For our part, we must grant China permanent normal trade relations status. It's important to understand what that means: it simply means that we will give China the same tariff schedule we apply to most every other nation in the world, and China will do likewise. It would eliminate the annual vote on China's trade status, which we do not apply to any other WTO member. Some have said we need the annual vote to address other concerns we have with China, on human rights, proliferation, or religious freedom. But Congress always has the authority to address any part of our relationship with any nation, including China. The annual China trade vote has not been an effective instrument. It simply has affirmed our trading relationship with China for 20 years in a row. What permanent normal trade relations status for China will do is get us out of the cycle we are now in, where the future of Chinese trade comes up every single year for a divisive and not very effective vote.

The economic benefits of this deal to America are clear. If Congress votes no, we risk losing the full, enforceable market access benefits of the agreement, as well as the special protections we negotiated. In a global economy, where global markets are essential, American businesses and workers would be put at an enormous disadvantage, essentially shut off from one fifth of the world. It would be a self-inflicted wound for the economic health of America.

But I believe the economic benefits are only the beginning of the argument. For I am convinced that this agreement is as vital to our national security as it is to our economic security.

Our nation has a tremendous stake in how China evolves. We are a Pacific nation which fought three wars in Asia in the 20th Century. Our future is tied to Asia. And the stability of Asia -- economically, politically and militarily -- is inextricably entwined with the stability and direction of China. As China develops, the path it illuminates or the shadow it casts will be felt far from its own borders.

China will write that future as it answers some fundamental questions: It has extended some freedoms -- but will it gain the stability that can only come from respecting human rights and permitting opposing political voices to be heard and felt? It is reforming its economy -- but will it unleash the necessary ingredient of sustained growth in the information age -- namely access by its people to knowledge and unfettered thought? It has become deeply engaged in the international community -- but will it make a broad commitment to play by global rules and do its part to address global challenges like the spread of weapons of mass destruction and climate change? It is growing stronger -- but will it use that strength to build a more secure Asia, or to threaten the freedom and security of its neighbors? Ultimately, the answers will come from China. But we have a enormous stake in encouraging it to choose the path of integration and reform, not confrontation and decline. Bringing China into the WTO will make a big difference.

To understand why, we need to have a clear-eyed view of China, neither looking through rose-colored glasses or through the glass darkly. We need to look at its progress and its problems, its system and its strains, its policies and its perceptions of the world.

In the last 20 years, China has made remarkable progress in building a new economy, lifting more than 200 million people out of absolute poverty. One incredible result is that China now has the largest wireless communications network in the entire world, and is linking so many people to one another that it is adding the equivalent of a new Baby Bell every year.

But China faces daunting problems as well. Its working age population is increasing by more than 12 million people -- equal to the population of New England -- every year. Tens of millions of peasants are migrating from the countryside, where they see no future, to the city, where only some find work. China's political system is plagued by corruption. Its air is so dirty that 25 percent of all deaths in China over the age of five come from chronic respiratory disease, four times the U.S. rate. And China's economic growth has slowed just when it needs to be rising to create jobs for the unemployed and maintain support for economic reform.

For all the progress of China's reforms, private enterprise still accounts for less than one-third of its GDP. China's state banks still are making massive loans to struggling state firms, the sector of the economy least likely to succeed. In other words, China cannot maintain stability or ensure prosperity by maintaining the status quo.

What does this mean for us? As the President said when Premier Zhu Rongji visited Washington last year, "if we've learned anything in the last few years from Japan's long recession and Russia's current economic troubles, it is that the weaknesses of great nations can pose as big a challenge to America as their strengths." So as we focus on the potential challenges that a strong China could present to the United States in the future, let us not forget the risks that could be posed by a weak China, beset by internal conflicts, social dislocation, criminal activity, and large-scale illegal emigration -- a vast zone of instability in Asia.

Our interest lies in encouraging both stability and change in China by encouraging it to meet, not stifle, the growing demands of its people for openness, accountability, freedom and reform. Bringing China into the WTO will help in three ways.

First, this is not just an agreement to expand trade between our two countries. It will obligate China to deepen its market reforms and open its economy to the world. It will increase the pace of change in China.

China's top leaders understand that economic change is both essential and risky. It is risky because opening China's antiquated economy to global competition is likely to cause more short-term unemployment and the specter of social unrest. But, interestingly, they also understand that this change is essential because China cannot make the next leap in development without world-class industries and products that can compete in the global economy. And the only way to produce competitive industries is to open the country to outside competition. With this WTO agreement, they have chosen to continue opening their economy, despite the risks that path entails. Do we really want to reject that choice?

The introduction of competition results in natural pressure for progress. A decade ago, China's best and brightest college graduates sought jobs in the government, in large state-owned firms or state-run research institutions or universities. More and more, the best and brightest either are starting their own companies or choosing to work for foreign-invested companies -- where they generally get higher pay, a better work environment, and a chance to get ahead based on merit, not political connections.

U.S. companies are the leaders in the Chinese market in developing human resources -- by emphasizing teamwork and respect for individual rights. In turn, more and more, Chinese firms are learning that unless they change their working style and treat employees with respect, they will lose out in the competition for top talent. This process will only accelerate as China joins the WTO, and we should do all we can to encourage it, because it will lift the standards of Chinese workers -- and their expectations.

Second, by accelerating economic change, the agreement we reached also has the potential to encourage China to evolve into a more open society.

In ways that are incomplete, but nonetheless real for millions of ordinary Chinese citizens, China's economic opening already has given its people greater scope to live their lives. Take Shanghai, for example, the city that has been most open to international influence. Ten years ago, people in China did not own their own homes. Today, 25 percent of Shanghai residents are homeowners. When reforms began, there were no supermarkets, and citizens had to buy food from state-run outlets using coupons. Today, there are more than 1,000 supermarkets and no more rationing of food. A decade ago, Chinese citizens could rarely travel in or out of their own country. Last year, on New Year's Day, airlines added more than 250 flights to international destinations from Shanghai alone. Nationwide, China has seen the emergence of more than one million nonprofit and social organizations -- professional associations, consumer groups, tenant organizations, environmental groups; a 2,500 percent explosion of print and broadcast media; and local elections in the vast majority of the country's 900,000 villages.

Let us understand: these changes do not mean that the people of China enjoy political freedom. Chinese authorities still tolerate no organized political dissent or opposition, and no challenge to the Communist Party. Over the past year, we have seen an increase in its crackdown on political activities and dissent; stepped-up controls on unregistered churches; the suppression of ethnic

minority groups, especially Tibetans; and the imprisonment of even more dissidents whose only crime is free speech. Because the Communist Party's ideology has largely been discredited in China, and because it lacks the legitimacy that can only come from democratic choice, it seeks to maintain its grip by suppressing other voices.

So let me make very clear: This agreement is not, by itself, a human rights policy for the United States. We must and we will continue to speak out on behalf of people in China who are persecuted for their political and religious beliefs. That is why we pushed for the release of Dickinson College librarian Song Yongyi, who was released just last week. That's why we sanctioned China as a "country of particular concern" under the International Religious Freedom Act last year. That's why we sponsored a resolution last year in the UN Human Rights Commission condemning China's human rights record and why we're doing it again this year. We will continue to press China to respect global norms on non-proliferation; to encourage a peaceful resolution of issues with Taiwan; to urge China to be part of the solution to the problem of global climate change.

With or without this WTO agreement, we will need to continue to work in all these areas. At the same time, I believe this agreement will reinforce and complement these efforts, and help move China in the right direction in fundamental ways.

For example, in the past, the Chinese state was every citizens' employer, landlord, shopkeeper, and news provider all rolled into one. By advancing privatization, this agreement will accelerate a process that is removing government from vast areas of people's lives.

By giving investors and property owners predictability and protection against arbitrary government action, it reinforces the idea that individuals have rights. This will give added impetus to those trying to strengthen the Chinese legal system in a way that allows citizens to hold their government truly accountable.

Finally, by opening China's telecommunications market to cutting-edge American technology and international firms, the WTO agreement will help bring the information revolution to cities and towns across China. A year ago, China had two million Internet addresses. Today, it has nine million. Soon, people in some of the most remote villages in interior China will have access to CNN. And as they become more mobile, more prosperous, and more aware of alternative ways of life, I believe they will seek a stronger voice in shaping their destiny.

Of course, just last week, Beijing announced that it was cracking down on the Internet. It's outrageous -- but it's also futile. In this information age, cracking down on the Internet is like King Canute trying to still the waters. Indeed, the fact that the Chinese government is pushing back against the increasing flow of information to the Chinese people only proves that the changes China is undergoing are real and threatening to the status quo. This kind of repression is not an argument for slowing down the effort to bring China into the world; it's an argument for accelerating it.

In the end, as China opens to the information economy, it can succeed only as it liberates the minds of its people and empowers the individual. In this age, you cannot expect people to be creative economically and frozen politically. At the same time, China may discover that people are far more willing to tolerate wrenching economic change when they have a say in the

decisions that affect their lives. Compare the fates of the governments of an autocratic Indonesia and a democratic South Korea as they faced the Asian financial crisis over the past two years. Bringing China into the WTO doesn't guarantee it will make the right choice for political reform. But by accelerating the process of economic change, it will force China to confront that choice sooner, and make the imperative for that choice far more powerful.

How will China change? I believe it will be a combination of internal pressures for a greater voice and external validation of the human rights struggle by the international community. The WTO agreement will bolster the former while we maintain our leadership role in the latter. Our policy should no more be measured week to week or year to year than you could have measured our policy toward the Soviet Union -- with which we continued to engage, even though it posed a much greater threat to us than China does today.

This agreement will advance our national security interests in a third way as well: it increases the chance that in the new century China will be on the inside of the international system, playing by the rules, instead of on the outside, denying them.

Under the terms of this agreement, the Chinese government is obliged to publish laws and regulations. It subjects some of its most important decisions, for the first time, to the review of an international body. Why does that matter?

Quite simply, it applies to China the basic principle at the heart of the concept of the rule of law: that governments cannot behave arbitrarily at home or abroad, that their actions are subject to rules consistently applied. Remember, China is choosing to embrace these obligations. As China becomes a stakeholder in the WTO and other international regimes, it will be more likely to accept the legitimacy of international norms, and define its future within the international community, not outside of it.

I know some say that if China is allowed to join the WTO, it actually will undermine our effort to strengthen global norms in two very important areas: labor rights and the environment. But the fact is, most of the members of the WTO already are developing countries, with the same concerns that trading rules not become an instrument to restrict their growth. China's membership won't change that equation. And considering the fact that China is home to one-fifth of the world's people and the source of a rising share of greenhouse gas emissions, it is hard to imagine an effective global effort to meet those environmental challenges without China.

It's fair to ask: how do we know China will do what it promised to do in the agreement we signed? Of course, we cannot know for sure. But we do have reasons to believe that it will, and mechanisms to reinforce that.

First, China is pledging to open its economy and its markets not just as a means of getting in the WTO, but because most of its leaders believe reform is in China's interest.

Second, as a member of the WTO, non-compliance by China is subject to dispute resolution under the WTO; like any other country, China will confront judgments backed by a 135-member body, rather than being able to chalk up friction to supposed U.S. bullying. Right now, if China treats our products unfairly, we have no recourse, short of pulling the plug on trade.

This agreement increases our leverage with China in the event of a future trade dispute. If China does not comply with adverse rulings by the WTO, we are entitled to take equivalent action against China.

In the end, we must and will continue to protect our interests with firmness and candor. But we must do so without isolating China from the global forces that can empower its people to build a better future. That would leave the Chinese people with less access to information, less contact with the democratic world, and more resistance from their government to outside influence and ideas. No one could possibly benefit from that except for the most rigid, anti-democratic elements in China itself. Let's not give them a victory by locking China out of the WTO.

The question is not whether or not this trade agreement by itself will cure serious and disturbing issues of economic and political freedom in China; the issue is whether it will push things in the right direction. President Clinton believes it will. Some of the most courageous proponents of change in China agree. Martin Lee, leader of Hong Kong's Democratic Party, says that without entry to the WTO, "any hope for the political and reform process would also recede." And Chinese dissident Ren Wanding said upon the deal's completion: "Before, the sky was black. now it is light. This can be a new beginning."

It is our shared conviction that supporting this agreement is a new beginning. It is the right thing for America, for China, for Asia, and for the world. It will increase the chance that China will define its future within the international community, and move toward a more open society that upholds the rule of law. That is what is at stake in this debate. Let us have the wisdom to choose wisely. Thank you.

###